New York Journal of Mathematics

New York J. Math. 31 (2025) 1195-1236.

Real-variable theory of matrix-weighted weak Triebel-Lizorkin spaces

Yanli Mo and Jingshi Xu

ABSTRACT. We introduce matrix-weighted weak Triebel-Lizorkin spaces and establish the equivalence between the corresponding weak discrete sequence spaces. In the scalar unweighted case, we first prove the boundedness of almost diagonal operators on the weak discrete Triebel-Lizorkin space and then extend this result to the matrix-weighted setting. Furthermore, we provide a characterization of these spaces in terms of molecules. Additionally, we demonstrate the equivalence between the continuous function spaces defined via a sequence of reducing operators and those defined directly by matrix weights. These results ultimately establish a complete connection between matrix-weighted weak Triebel-Lizorkin spaces and their discrete or sequence space analogues. Within this framework, we develop several characterizations of matrix-weighted weak Triebel-Lizorkin spaces: First, using the doubling property of matrix weights and the Fefferman-Stein inequality, we obtain the characterization of matrix-weighted weak Triebel-Lizorkin spaces in terms of the Peetre maximal function. Second, combining the Peetre maximal function with the Fefferman-Stein inequality, we derive the Lusin area function characterization of matrix-weighted weak Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. Third, we utilize reducing operators and the Fefferman-Stein inequality to provide the Littlewood-Paley g₂*-function characterization of matrix-weighted weak Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. Finally, as an application, the boundedness of the classical Calderón-Zygmund operator on these spaces is obtained.

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	1196
2.	Preliminaries	1198
3.	Muckenhoupt matrix weights	1200
4.	Definition of weakly homogeneous matrix-weighted Triebel-	
	Lizorkin spaces	1203
5.	Boundedness of almost diagonal matrices	1209
6.	Molecular characterization	1213

Received July 16, 2025.

2020 Mathematics Subject Classification. 46E35, 46E40, 42B25.

Key words and phrases. matrix weight; weak Triebel-Lizorkin spaces; Peetre maximal functions; Littlewood-Paley functions; Calderón-Zygmund operator.

The work is supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 12161022) and the Science and Technology Project of Guangxi (Guike AD23023002).

Xu is the corresponding author.

7.	Equivalence of the spaces $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})$ and $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$	1215
8.	Characterizations via maximal functions: Peetre, Lusin, and g_{λ}^*	1220
9.	Calderón-Zygmund operators	1230
References		1234

1. Introduction

Lizorkin [22, 23] and Triebel [32] have independently studied what is now known as Triebel-Lizorkin space since the 1970s. Besov spaces first appeared in the 1960s, introduced by the Soviet mathematician Oleg Vladimirovich Besov. Many classical function spaces such as Lebesgue spaces, Hardy spaces, Sobolev spaces, Lipschitz spaces, etc., are special cases of (homogeneous) Besov spaces or (homogeneous) Triebel-Lizorkin spaces (see [33] for details). More theories and applications of these two types of spaces can be found in [11, 13]. In [17], Danqing He considered the characterization of the square function of weak Hardy spaces. In [16], Grafakos and Danqing He discussed various characterizations of maximal functions for these spaces and presented an interpolation theorem for $H^{p,\infty}$ from the initial strong H^{p_0} and H^{p_1} estimates ($p_0),$ as well as they introduced the weak Triebel- Lizorkin spaces. Obviously, the usual Triebel-Lizorkin spaces are subsets of weak Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. In [36], Xianjie Yan, Dachun Yang, Wen Yuan, and Ciqiang Zhuo introduced variable weak Hardy spaces and obtained the characterizations of atoms, molecules, Lusin area functions, Littlewood-Paley g-functions, or g_{1}^{*} -functions of variable weak Hardy spaces. Wenchang Li and Jingshi Xu [20] obtained the equivalent quasi-norms of the Peetre maximal functions for weak Triebel-Lizorkin spaces, as well as atomic decompositions. After that, they established vector-valued estimates for variable exponent weak Lebesgue spaces in [21], and then introduced weak Triebel-Lizorkin spaces with variable integrability, summability, and smoothness. They provided equivalent quasi-norms for these spaces using Peetre maximal functions and obtained the boundedness of the φ -transform and their atomic and molecular decompositions on these spaces.

On the other hand, the theory of scalar A_p weights originated from Muckenhoupt [24] and Hunt, Muckenhoupt, and Wheeden [19]. It has now been extended to matrix weights. Matrix weights were developed in the 1990s, and scalar methods cannot be directly applied in matrix-weighted spaces. In 1997, in order to address some meaningful problems related to multivariate stationary stochastic processes and Toeplitz operators (see [31]), Treil and Volberg [30] introduced Muckenhoupt A_2 matrix weights and extended the Hunt–Muckenhoupt–Wheeden theorem to the vector-valued case. Subsequently, Nazarov and Treil [25] introduced Muckenhoupt A_p matrix weights, extended the theory from p=2 to $1 , and obtained the boundedness of the Hilbert transform on the matrix-weighted Lebesgue space <math>L^p(W)$. Volberg [34] provided an alternative proof using methods from classical Littlewood-Paley theory. In 2016, Cruz-Uribe et al. [7] applied the theory of A_p matrix weights on

Euclidean spaces to study degenerate Sobolev spaces. For more research on matrix-weighted function spaces and their applications, see [6, 8, 9, 10].

In recent years, Frazier and Roudenko [15] introduced the homogeneous Triebel-Lizorkin spaces with matrix weights, denoted by $\dot{F}_p^{\alpha,q}(W)$, where $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (0,\infty)$, and $q \in (0,\infty]$, through the discrete Littlewood-Paley g-function. Frazier and Roudenko [15] proved that for any given $p \in (1,\infty)$, $L^p(W) = \dot{F}_p^{0,2}(W)$; and for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $F_p^{k,2}(W)$ coincides with the matrix-weighted Sobolev space $L_k^p(W)$. Frazier and Roudenko [15] also demonstrated that a vector-valued function \vec{f} belongs to $\dot{F}_p^{\alpha,q}(W)$ if and only if its φ -transform coefficients belong to the sequence space $\dot{f}_p^{\alpha,q}(W)$. As an application of the above results, Frazier and Roudenko [15] obtained the boundedness of Calderón-Zygmund operators on $\dot{F}_p^{\alpha,q}(W)$. Qi Wang, Dachun Yang, and Yangyang Zhang et al. [35] provided several real-variable characterizations of $\dot{F}_p^{\alpha,q}(W)$. As an application, they proved the boundedness of Fourier multipliers on this space under the generalized Hörmander condition.

In addition, Dachun Yang et al. [37, 38] introduced Besov-type spaces $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}$ and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}$ with a new Morrey parameter $\tau \in [0, \infty)$ and developed the real-variable theory for these spaces. They also demonstrated that when $\tau = 0$, these spaces not only include the well-known Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}$ and $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s}$, but also encompass other function spaces such as Morrey spaces and Q spaces. In recent years, for any $A \in \{B, F\}$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $\tau \in [0, \infty), p \in (0, \infty), q \in (0, \infty],$ and Muckenhoupt A_p matrix weight W, Bu Fan et al. [1, 2, 3] introduced the matrix-weighted Besov-Triebel-Lizorkintype spaces $A_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(W)$ on \mathbb{R}^n and developed their real-variable theory, includ $ing \varphi$ -transform characterizations, molecular and wavelet characterizations, as well as the boundedness of pseudo-differential operators, trace operators, and Calderón-Zygmund operators. In particular, $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,0}(W)$ coincides with the matrixweighted Besov-Triebel-Lizorkin space $\dot{A}_{p,q}^s(W)$. Recently, for any $A \in \{B, F\}$, $s \in \mathbb{R}, \tau \in [0, \infty), p \in (0, \infty), q \in (0, \infty],$ and any matrix $A_{p,\infty}$ weight W, Bu Fan et al. [4] studied the matrix-weighted Besov-Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces $A_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(W)$ on \mathbb{R}^n . Subsequently, inspired by the invariance of integrability indices in Triebel-Lizorkin spaces, Dachun Yang et al. [5] introduced the generalized matrix-weighted Besov-Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\nu}(W)$ on \mathbb{R}^n with broad generality, where $A \in \{B, F\}$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$, ν is a growth function, and W is a matrix $A_{p,\infty}$ weight. They developed the real-variable theory for these spaces. Building on [5], they established the boundedness of pseudo-differential operators, trace operators, and Calderón-Zygmund operators on the space $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\nu}(W)$ in [39]. Moreover, the space $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\nu}(W)$ includes the matrix-weighted Besov-Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(W)$, and in particular, the matrix-weighted Besov-Triebel-Lizorkin spaces $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s}(W)$. However, the weak Triebel-Lizorkin spaces with matrix weights have not yet been studied

in the literature. Based on this gap, this paper will introduce the weak Triebel-Lizorkin spaces with matrix weights and provide real-variable characterizations of these spaces.

The organization of this paper is as follows:

In Section 2 we begin by providing definitions of fundamental concepts and establishing notational conventions. In Section 3 we recall properties of classical scalar A_p weights and the A_p matrix weight class. In Section 4 we introduce the definition of homogeneous matrix-weighted weak Triebel-Lizorkin spaces $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$ and $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})$, along with their discrete norms $||\vec{s}||_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})}$ and $\|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}_{n,m}^{\alpha,q}(W)}$. Here, $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 , <math>0 < q \leq \infty$, W is an A_p matrix weight, and $\{A_Q\}$ is its associated sequence of reducing operators. This section presents several key lemmas essential for proving the main results of the paper and establishes the norm equivalence $\|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})} \sim \|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}$. In Section 5 we prove the boundedness of scalar, unweighted almost diagonal operators on the scalar, unweighted weak discrete Triebel-Lizorkin space $f_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}$. Subsequently, this result is extended to establish the boundedness of almost diagonal operators on the weighted space $\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})$. Section 6 is molecular and atomic characterizations of these spaces. In Section 7 we prove the equivalence of the spaces $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})$ and $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$. In Section 8 we characterize the space $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$ using the Peetre maximal function, the Lusin area function, and the Littlewood-Paley g_{1}^{*} -function. Finally, in Section 9 we establish the boundedness of classical convolution-type Calderón-Zygmund operators on the matrixweighted weak Triebel-Lizorkin spaces.

2. Preliminaries

To state the following results, we first introduce some notation. Let $f \lesssim g$ mean $f \leq Cg$ for some positive constant C. Let $f \sim g$ denote $f \lesssim g$ and $g \lesssim f$. Let $\mathbb{N} := \{1,2,...\}$, $\mathbb{Z}_+ := \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$, and $\mathbb{Z}_+^n := (\mathbb{Z}_+)^n$. For any measurable set $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, let |E| be its measure. Define $\oint_E f(x) \, \mathrm{d}x := \frac{1}{|E|} \oint_E f(x) \, \mathrm{d}x$. Define $\widetilde{g}(x) := g(-x)$. Let $B(x,r) := \{y \in \mathbb{R}^n : |x-y| < r\}$, $B := B(x_B, r_B)$, and $aB := B(x_B, ar_B)$. For $p \in [1, \infty]$, let p' denote its conjugate exponent, i.e., 1/p + 1/p' = 1. For a measurable set $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, let $\mathbf{1}_E$ be its characteristic function. For any $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, define $\varphi_j(x) := 2^{jn}\varphi(2^jx)$. Define the dyadic cubes $Q_{jk} := \prod_{i=1}^n [2^{-j}k_i, 2^{-j}(k_i+1))$, $\mathcal{D} := \{Q_{jk} : j \in \mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^n\}$, and $\mathcal{D}_j := \{Q \in \mathcal{D} : \ell(Q) = 2^{-j}\}$, where $\ell(Q)$ denotes the side length of the dyadic cube Q. For $Q = Q_{jk}$, define

$$\varphi_Q(x) := 2^{jn/2} \varphi(2^j x - k) = |Q|^{-1/2} \varphi((x - x_Q)/\ell(Q)),$$

where $x_Q = 2^{-j}k$ denotes the lower-left corner of the dyadic cube Q. Similarly, define $\psi_Q(x)$. For a vector-valued function \vec{f} , define

$$\langle \vec{f}, g \rangle := (\langle f_1, g \rangle, \dots, \langle f_m, g \rangle)^T.$$

 $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denotes the space of Schwartz functions on \mathbb{R}^n . $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is its topological dual space.

$$S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n) := \Big\{ \varphi \in S(\mathbb{R}^n) : \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(x) x^{\gamma} dx = 0, \ \gamma \in \mathbb{Z}_+^n \Big\},$$

it is a subspace of $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denotes the topological dual space of $\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denotes the set of all polynomials on \mathbb{R}^n . Then $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)/\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. For any $m \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$(S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m := \{\vec{f} := (f_1, \dots, f_m)^T : i \in \{1, \dots, m\}, f_i \in S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)\}.$$

For any $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $\hat{\varphi}$ denotes its Fourier transform, and for any $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$, it is defined as follows:

$$\hat{\varphi}(\xi) := (2\pi)^{-n/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(x) e^{-ix\xi} dx.$$

For any $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $\langle \hat{f}, \varphi \rangle := \langle f, \hat{\varphi} \rangle$. For any $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, \check{f} denotes its inverse Fourier transform, and it is defined as follows:

$$\check{f}(x) := (2\pi)^{n/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \hat{f}(\xi) e^{i\xi x} d\xi.$$

For any $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, denote $\operatorname{supp} \varphi := \overline{\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \varphi(x) \neq 0\}}$. Let f and g be measurable functions on \mathbb{R}^n . The convolution of f and g is defined by $(f * g)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x-t)g(t) \, \mathrm{d}t$. Define $\varphi_j * \vec{f} := (\varphi_j * f_1, \dots, \varphi_j * f_m)^T$. The Lebesgue space $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is defined as the set of all measurable functions

The Lebesgue space $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is defined as the set of all measurable functions f on \mathbb{R}^n such that $||f||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty$, where

$$||f||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} := \begin{cases} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(x)|^p \, \mathrm{d}x \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}, & p \in (0, \infty), \\ \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} |f(x)|, & p = \infty. \end{cases}$$

Let $0 , denote the weak Lebesgue space by <math>L^{p,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which is the set of Lebesgue measurable functions f on \mathbb{R}^n satisfying

$$||f||_{L^{p,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} := \sup_{\lambda > 0} \lambda |\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : |f(x)| > \lambda\}|^{\frac{1}{p}} < \infty.$$

For brevity, we shall henceforth abbreviate the weak- L^p space $L^{p,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ as $L^{p,\infty}$.

Remark 2.1. For $0 < A < \infty$, by definition it follows that, $|||f|^A||_{L^{p,\infty}} = ||f||_{L^{pA,\infty}}^A$.

Let $p \in (0, \infty]$, $q \in (0, \infty]$, the space $L^{p,\infty}(\ell^q)$ is defined as the set of all complex-valued measurable function sequences $\{f_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ on \mathbb{R}^n satisfy

$$\left\| \{f_j\} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^q)} := \left\| \|\{f_j\}\|_{\ell^q} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} = \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| f_j \right|^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} < \infty.$$

3. Muckenhoupt matrix weights

Let $L^1_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be the set of all locally integrable functions on \mathbb{R}^n (functions that are integrable on every compact subset). Given a function $f \in L^1_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator \mathcal{M} is defined as

$$\mathcal{M}f(x) := \sup_{x \in Q} \frac{1}{|Q|} \int_{Q} |f(y)| dy, \ \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^{n},$$

where the supremum is taken over all cubes Q centered at x with sides parallel to the coordinate axes.

Next, we first review the concept of the classical $A_n(\mathbb{R}^n)$ -weights.

Definition 3.1. Let $1 and <math>\omega$ be a positive measurable function on \mathbb{R}^n . If

$$\sup_{Q} \left(\frac{1}{|Q|} \int_{Q} \omega(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \right) \left(\frac{1}{|Q|} \int_{Q} \omega(x)^{1-p'} \, \mathrm{d}x \right)^{p-1} < \infty,$$

where the supremum is taken over all cubes Q, then ω is called an A_p weight function, denoted by $\omega \in A_p$, or we say that ω satisfies the A_p condition. If

$$\mathcal{M}\omega(x) \leq C\omega(x)$$

for almost every x, then ω is called an A_1 weight function, denoted by $\omega \in A_1$. Here, \mathcal{M} is the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator and $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denotes the set $\bigcup_{1 \leq p < \infty} A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Let $m \in \mathbb{N}$, and let A be an $m \times m$ complex-valued matrix. A is said to be positive definite if for any $\vec{z} \in \mathbb{C}^m \setminus \{0\}$, $(A\vec{z}, \vec{z}) > 0$. A is said to be non-negative definite if for any $\vec{z} \in \mathbb{C}^m \setminus \{0\}$, $(A\vec{z}, \vec{z}) \geq 0$. $M(\mathbb{C}^m)$ is denotes the set of all $m \times m$ non-negative definite complex-valued matrix throughout this paper.

Regarding the matrix A as a bounded linear operator on \mathbb{C}^m , we denote its operator norm by ||A||,

$$||A|| := \sup_{\vec{z} \in \mathbb{C}^m \setminus \{0\}} \frac{|A\vec{z}|}{|\vec{z}|},$$

where $\vec{z}:=(z_1,\ldots,z_m)^T\in\mathbb{C}^m$, and $|\vec{z}|:=\Big(\sum\limits_{j=1}^m|z_j|^2\Big)^{1/2}$. For any non-negative

definite matrices A, $B \in M(\mathbb{C}^m)$, we have ||AB|| = ||BA||. The norm here is the same as the one defined above (see Lemma 2.3 in [3]).

Definition 3.2. Let $m \in \mathbb{N}$, and let A be a positive definite $m \times m$ complex-valued matrix, satisfying that there exists an invertible $m \times m$ complex-valued matrix P and a diagonal matrix $\operatorname{diag}(\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_m)$, where $\{\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_m\} \subset \mathbb{R}_+$, such that $A = P \operatorname{diag}(\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_m)P^{-1}$. Then for any $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, A^{α} is defined as

$$A^{\alpha} := P \operatorname{diag}(\lambda_1^{\alpha}, \dots, \lambda_m^{\alpha}) P^{-1}.$$

Remark 3.3. From the knowledge of algebra, it is known that the definition of A^{α} is independent of the diagonalization decomposition form. See Proposition 1.1 in [18].

Next, we review the concept of matrix weights.

Definition 3.4. Let $m \in \mathbb{N}$. A matrix-valued function $W : \mathbb{R}^n \to M(\mathbb{C}^m)$ is called a matrix weight if each entry of W is a locally integrable function and W(x) is invertible for almost every $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

The concept of A_p matrix weights is derived from the p.1226, (1.1) in [14] and Definition 3.2 in [27].

Definition 3.5. Let $m \in \mathbb{N}$, $p \in (0, \infty)$. A matrix weight W is called an A_p -matrix weight, denoted by $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$, if

(i) when $p \in (0,1]$, there exists a positive constant C such that for any cube $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{y\in Q} \int_{O} \left\| W^{\frac{1}{p}}(x) W^{-\frac{1}{p}}(y) \right\|^{p} \mathrm{d}x \leq C;$$

(ii) when $p \in (1, \infty)$, there exists a positive constant C such that for any cube $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\oint_{Q} \left(\oint_{Q} \left\| W^{\frac{1}{p}}(x) W^{-\frac{1}{p}}(y) \right\|^{p'} \mathrm{d}y \right)^{\frac{p}{p'}} \mathrm{d}x \le C.$$

The expression $||W^{1/p}(x)W^{-1/p}(y)||$ in the above formula refers to the matrix (operator) norm. The definition below is derived from the p.1230 in [14].

Definition 3.6. Let $p \in (0, \infty)$. We say that a matrix weight W is a doubling matrix weight of order p if for all $\vec{y} \in \mathbb{C}^m$, the scalar measures $\omega_{\vec{y}}(x) := |W^{1/p}(x)\vec{y}|^p$ are uniformly doubling: that is, there exists C > 0 such that for all cubes $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ and all $\vec{y} \in \mathbb{C}^m$,

$$\int_{2O} \omega_{\vec{y}}(x) \mathrm{d}x \le C \int_{O} \omega_{\vec{y}}(x) \mathrm{d}x,\tag{3.1}$$

where 2Q is the cube concentric with Q, having twice the side length of Q. If $C = 2^{\beta}$ is the smallest constant for which (3.1) holds, then we say that β is the doubling exponent of W.

The following lemma is obtained from Lemma 2.1 in [14] when 0 , and from Lemma 5.3 in [34] and p. 196 in [29] when <math>p > 1.

Lemma 3.7. Let $p \in (0, \infty)$. If $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$, then W is a doubling matrix weight of order p.

The following definition is Definition 2.14 in [35].

Definition 3.8. Let $m \in \mathbb{N}$, $p \in (0, \infty)$, and W be a matrix weight from \mathbb{R}^n to $M(\mathbb{C}^m)$. A sequence of positive definite $m \times m$ matrices $\{A_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ is called a sequence of reducing operators of order p for W if there exist positive constants C_1 and C_2 such that for any $\vec{z} \in \mathbb{C}^m$ and $Q \in \mathcal{D}$,

$$|C_1|A_Q\vec{z}| \le \left(\oint_Q |W^{\frac{1}{p}}(x)\vec{z}|^p dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \le C_2|A_Q\vec{z}|.$$

The following definition is Definition 2.1 in [15].

Definition 3.9. Let $\{A_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$ be a sequence of positive definite matrices, $\beta\in(0,\infty)$, $p\in(0,\infty)$, and $r\in(0,\infty)$.

(i) If there exists a positive constant C such that for any $Q, P \in \mathcal{D}$,

$$||A_Q A_P^{-1}||^p \le C \max\left\{ \left(\frac{\ell(P)}{\ell(Q)}\right)^n, \left(\frac{\ell(Q)}{\ell(P)}\right)^{\beta-n} \right\} \left(1 + \frac{|x_Q - x_P|}{\max\{\ell(P), \ell(Q)\}}\right)^{\beta},$$

then we say that the sequence $\{A_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$ is strongly doubling of order (β, p) . (ii) If there exists a positive constant C such that for any $k, \ell \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}$,

Distribute constant C such that for any
$$k, \ell \in \mathbb{Z}^n$$
 and $j \in \|A_{Q_{jk}}A_{Q_{j\ell}}^{-1}\| \le C(1+|k-\ell|)^r$,

then we say that the sequence $\{A_0\}_{0\in\mathcal{D}}$ is weakly doubling of order r.

Remark 3.10. By the definition above, if the sequence $\{A_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$ is strongly doubling of order (β, p) , then by the arbitrariness of P and Q, taking $\ell(P) = \ell(Q) = 2^{-j}$, we have $||A_{Q_{jk}}A_{Q_{j\ell}}^{-1}|| \leq C(1+|k-\ell|)^{\beta/p}$, that is, $\{A_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$ is also weakly doubling of order $r := \beta/p$.

The following lemma explains the connection between doubling weights W and doubling sequences $\{A_O\}_{O\in\mathcal{D}}$.

Lemma 3.11. (Lemma 2.2 in [15]) Let $p \in (0, \infty)$, $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$, and $\{A_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$ be a sequence of reducing operators of order p for W. Then, $\{A_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$ is weakly doubling of order β/p , where β is the doubling exponent of W.

Lemma 3.12. (Lemmas 3.2 and 3.3 in [15]) Let $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$, and $\{A_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ be a sequence of reducing operators of order p for W. Then there exists $\delta > 0$ such that

(i) $p \in (0,1]$,

$$\sup_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}\; \operatorname*{ess\,sup}_{x\in Q} \|A_Q W^{-\frac{1}{p}}(x)\| < \infty.$$

(ii) p ∈ (1, ∞),

$$\sup_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \int_{Q} ||A_{Q}W^{-\frac{1}{p}}(x)||^{\eta} \mathrm{d}x < \infty, \ \eta < p' + \delta.$$

(iii) $p \in (0, \infty)$,

$$\sup_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \int_{Q} \|W^{\frac{1}{p}}(x)A_{Q}^{-1}\|^{\eta} \mathrm{d}x < \infty, \ \eta < p + \delta.$$

(iv) $p \in (0, \infty)$,

$$\sup_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}\int_{Q}\sup_{P\in\mathcal{D}:x\in P\subseteq Q}\|W^{\frac{1}{p}}(x)A_{p}^{-1}\|^{\eta}\mathrm{d}x<\infty,\;\eta< p+\delta.$$

4. Definition of weakly homogeneous matrix-weighted Triebel-Lizorkin spaces

To introduce the weakly homogeneous matrix-weighted Triebel-Lizorkin spaces, we need the following definition.

Definition 4.1. Let the function $\varphi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}$ satisfy the following conditions: $(T1) \varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$;

(T2) supp $\hat{\varphi} \subseteq \{\xi : 1/2 \le |\xi| \le 2\};$

(T3) $|\hat{\varphi}(\xi)| \ge C > 0$, $3/5 \le |\xi| \le 5/3$.

Then φ is called admissible, denoted by $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}$.

For simplicity, in the following content, let Φ denote the collection of sequences $\{\varphi_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_+}$ generated by all φ satisfying (T1), (T2), and (T3). Here, $\varphi_j(\cdot):=2^{jn}\varphi(2^j\cdot)$.

Definition 4.2. Let $m \in \mathbb{N}$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$, and let W be a matrix weight from \mathbb{R}^n to $M(\mathbb{C}^m)$. Suppose $\{\varphi_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_+} \in \Phi$. Then the weakly homogeneous matrix-weighted Triebel-Lizorkin space is defined as

$$\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W):=\Big\{\vec{f}\in (\mathcal{S}_\infty'(\mathbb{R}^n))^m:\ \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}<\infty\Big\},$$

where

$$||\vec{f}||_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)} := \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |2^{j\alpha} W^{1/p} (\varphi_j * \vec{f})|^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}.$$

The usual modification is made when $q = \infty$.

Definition 4.3. Let $m \in \mathbb{N}$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$, $\{A_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ be a sequence of $m \times m$ non-negative definite matrices. Suppose $\{\varphi_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}_+} \in \Phi$. Then the weak- $\{A_O\}$ Triebel-Lizorkin space is defined as

$$\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\}) := \Big\{ \vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_\infty(\mathbb{R}^n))^m : \ \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})} < \infty \Big\},$$

where

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})} := \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_j} \left(2^{j\alpha} |A_Q \varphi_j * \vec{f} | \mathbf{1}_Q \right)^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}.$$

The usual modification is made when $q = \infty$.

Definition 4.4. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$, then the scalar, unweighted weak discrete Triebel-Lizorkin space $\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}$ is the set of all complex-valued sequences $s = \{s_O\}_{O \in \mathcal{D}}$ such that

$$||s||_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}} = \left\| \left\{ \sum_{Q} (|Q|^{-\alpha/n - 1/2} |s_Q| \mathbf{1}_Q)^q \right\}^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} < \infty.$$

Motivated by the definition of the scalar, unweighted weak discrete Triebel-Lizorkin space $\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}$, we provide the definitions of the matrix-weighted weak discrete Triebel-Lizorkin space and the weak discrete $\{A_Q\}$ -Triebel-Lizorkin space, where A_Q is a reducing operator for W.

Definition 4.5. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$, and W be a matrix weight from \mathbb{R}^n to $M(\mathbb{C}^m)$, and let $\{A_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ be a sequence of $m \times m$ non-negative definite matrices. The matrix-weighted weak discrete Triebel-Lizorkin space $\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$ is the set of all sequences $\vec{s} = \{\vec{s}_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ such that

$$||\vec{s}||_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)} = \left\| \left(\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} (|Q|^{-\alpha/n - 1/2} |W^{1/p} \vec{s}_Q | \mathbf{1}_Q)^q \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} < \infty.$$

The weak discrete $\{A_Q\}$ -Triebel-Lizorkin space $\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})$ is the set of all sequences $\vec{s} = \{\vec{s}_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ such that

$$\|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})} = \left\| \left(\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} (|Q|^{-\alpha/n - 1/2} |A_Q \vec{s}_Q | \mathbf{1}_Q)^q \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} < \infty.$$

The following Lemmas 4.6 and 4.7 respectively correspond to (2.8) and (2.9) in [15].

Lemma 4.6. Let $\{\varphi_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_+}\in \Phi$. Suppose that $\{A_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$ is a sequence of positive definite matrices that is weakly doubling of order $r\in(0,\infty)$. Then, for any given $A\in(0,1]$, $R\in(0,\infty)$, there exists a positive constant C depending on A and R such that for any $j\in\mathbb{Z}$, $k\in\mathbb{Z}^n$, and $\vec{f}\in(\mathcal{S}_\infty'(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\begin{split} \sup_{x \in Q_{jk}} |A_{Q_{jk}}(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(x)|^A &\leq C \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^n} (1 + |k - \ell|)^{-A(R-r)} \\ &\times 2^{jn} \int_{Q_{j\ell}} |A_{Q_{j\ell}} \varphi_j * \vec{f}(s)|^A \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

Lemma 4.7. Let \mathcal{M} be the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator, and let $\eta > n$. Then there exists a positive constant C such that for any $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and any complex-valued measurable function h on \mathbb{R}^n ,

$$\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^n}\sum_{\ell\in\mathbb{Z}^n}(1+|k-\ell|)^{-\eta}2^{jn}\int_{Q_{j\ell}}|h(s)|\mathrm{d} s\mathbf{1}_{Q_{jk}}\leq C\mathcal{M}(h).$$

The following lemma is Corollary 3.8 of the reference [15].

Lemma 4.8. Let $0 , <math>0 < q \le \infty$, and $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$. Let $\{A_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ be a sequence of reducing operators of order p for W. For any $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, and $f \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, define

$$\gamma_j(x) := \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_j} \|W^{\frac{1}{p}}(x)A_Q^{-1}\|\mathbf{1}_Q(x);$$

and

$$E_j(f) := \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_j} \left(\oint_Q f(y) dy \right) \mathbf{1}_Q.$$

Then there exists a positive constant C such that for any sequence of measurable functions $\{f_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ on \mathbb{R}^n ,

$$\|\{\gamma_i E_j(f_i)\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{L^p(\ell^q)} \le C\|\{E_j(f_i)\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{L^p(\ell^q)}.$$

Based on the above results, we have the following Lemma 4.9.

Lemma 4.9. Let $0 , <math>0 < q \le \infty$, and $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$. Let $\{A_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ be a sequence of reducing operators of order p for W. For any $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, and $f \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, define

$$\gamma_j(x) := \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_j} \|W^{\frac{1}{p}}(x)A_Q^{-1}\|\mathbf{1}_Q(x);$$

and

$$E_j(f) := \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_i} \left(\oint_Q f(y) dy \right) \mathbf{1}_Q.$$

Then there exists a positive constant C such that for any sequence of measurable functions $\{f_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ on \mathbb{R}^n ,

$$\| \{ \gamma_j E_j(f_j) \}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^q)} \le C \| \{ E_j(f_j) \}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^q)}.$$

Proof. For $0 , <math>0 < q \le \infty$. Fix q, and choose $0 < p_1 < p < p_2 < \infty$. Let $\vec{F} = \{E_j(f_j)\}$ and $|\vec{F}| = \|\{E_j(f_j)\}\|_{\ell^q}$, at height $\alpha > 0$, split \vec{F} , defining $\vec{F}_{\alpha} = \vec{F} \mathbf{1}_{|\vec{F}| > \alpha}$, $\vec{F}^{\alpha} = \vec{F} \mathbf{1}_{|\vec{F}| \le \alpha}$, and $\vec{F} = \vec{F}_{\alpha} + \vec{F}^{\alpha}$. It is easy to verify that

$$|\{|\vec{F}_{\alpha}| > \lambda\}| = \begin{cases} D_{\vec{F}}(\lambda), & \lambda > \alpha, \\ D_{\vec{F}}(\alpha), & \lambda \leq \alpha, \end{cases}$$

and

$$|\{|\vec{F}^{\alpha}| > \lambda\}| = \begin{cases} 0, & \lambda > \alpha, \\ D_{\vec{F}}(\lambda) - D_{\vec{F}}(\alpha), & \lambda \leq \alpha, \end{cases}$$

where $D_{\vec{F}}(\lambda) = |\{|\vec{F}| > \lambda\}|$. Therefore,

$$\begin{split} |||\vec{F}_{\alpha}|||_{L^{p_{1}}}^{p_{1}} &= p_{1} \int_{0}^{\infty} \lambda^{p_{1}-1} D_{\vec{F}_{\alpha}}(\lambda) \mathrm{d}\lambda \\ &= p_{1} \Big(\int_{0}^{\alpha} \lambda^{p_{1}-1} D_{\vec{F}_{\alpha}}(\lambda) \mathrm{d}\lambda + \int_{\alpha}^{\infty} \lambda^{p_{1}-1} D_{\vec{F}_{\alpha}}(\lambda) \mathrm{d}\lambda \Big) \\ &= p_{1} \Big(\int_{0}^{\alpha} \lambda^{p_{1}-1} D_{\vec{F}}(\alpha) \mathrm{d}\lambda + \int_{\alpha}^{\infty} \lambda^{p_{1}-1} D_{\vec{F}}(\lambda) \mathrm{d}\lambda \Big) \\ &\leq p_{1} \Big(D_{\vec{F}}(\alpha) \frac{\alpha^{p_{1}}}{p_{1}} + |||\vec{F}|||_{L^{p,\infty}}^{p} \int_{\alpha}^{\infty} \lambda^{p_{1}-1-p} \mathrm{d}\lambda \Big) \end{split}$$

$$\leq p_{1}\left(\left\|\vec{F}\right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}^{p} \frac{\alpha^{p_{1}-p}}{p_{1}} - \left\|\vec{F}\right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}^{p} \frac{\alpha^{p_{1}-p}}{p_{1}-p}\right)$$

$$= \frac{p}{p-p_{1}} \alpha^{p_{1}-p} \left\|\vec{F}\right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}^{p}.$$
(4.1)

Similarly, the same computation applied to \vec{F}^{α} gives

$$\begin{aligned} |||\vec{F}^{\alpha}|||_{L^{p_{2}}}^{p_{2}} &= p_{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} \lambda^{p_{2}-1} D_{\vec{F}^{\alpha}}(\lambda) d\lambda \\ &= p_{2} \Big(\int_{0}^{\alpha} \lambda^{p_{2}-1} D_{\vec{F}^{\alpha}}(\lambda) d\lambda + \int_{\alpha}^{\infty} \lambda^{p_{2}-1} D_{\vec{F}^{\alpha}}(\lambda) d\lambda \Big) \\ &= p_{2} \int_{0}^{\alpha} \lambda^{p_{2}-1} \Big(D_{\vec{F}}(\lambda) - D_{\vec{F}}(\alpha) \Big) d\lambda \\ &\leq p_{2} \Big(|||\vec{F}|||_{L^{p,\infty}}^{p} \frac{\alpha^{p_{2}-p}}{p_{2}-p} - D_{\vec{F}}(\alpha) \frac{\alpha^{p_{2}}}{p_{2}} \Big) \\ &= \frac{p_{2}}{p_{2}-p} \alpha^{p_{2}-p} |||\vec{F}||_{L^{p,\infty}}^{p} - D_{\vec{F}}(\alpha) \alpha^{p_{2}} \\ &\leq \frac{p_{2}}{p_{2}-p} \alpha^{p_{2}-p} |||\vec{F}||_{L^{p,\infty}}^{p}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.2)$$

Then by Lemma 4.8, (4.1), (4.2), we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left\| \left\{ \gamma_{j} E_{j}(f_{j}) \right\} \right\|_{\ell^{q}} > \lambda \right\} \right\| &\leq \left\| \left\| \left\{ \gamma_{j} E_{j}(f_{j}) \mathbf{1}_{|\vec{F}| > \alpha} \right\} \right\|_{\ell^{q}} > \frac{\lambda}{2} \right\} + \left\| \left\| \left\{ \gamma_{j} E_{j}(f_{j}) \mathbf{1}_{|\vec{F}| \leq \alpha} \right\} \right\|_{\ell^{q}} > \frac{\lambda}{2} \right\} \right\| \\ &\leq C_{p_{1},q} \left(\frac{2}{\lambda} \right)^{p_{1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left\| \left\{ \gamma_{j} E_{j}(f_{j}) \mathbf{1}_{|\vec{F}| > \alpha} \right\} \right\|_{\ell^{q}}^{p_{1}} dx \\ &+ C_{p_{2},q} \left(\frac{2}{\lambda} \right)^{p_{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left\| \left\{ \gamma_{j} E_{j}(f_{j}) \mathbf{1}_{|\vec{F}| > \alpha} \right\} \right\|_{\ell^{q}}^{p_{1}} dx \\ &= C_{p_{1},q} \left(\frac{2}{\lambda} \right)^{p_{1}} \left\| \left\| \left\{ \gamma_{j} E_{j}(f_{j}) \mathbf{1}_{|\vec{F}| > \alpha} \right\} \right\|_{\ell^{q}} \right\|_{L^{p_{1}}}^{p_{2}} \\ &+ C_{p_{2},q} \left(\frac{2}{\lambda} \right)^{p_{2}} \left\| \left\| \left\{ E_{j}(f_{j}) \mathbf{1}_{|\vec{F}| > \alpha} \right\} \right\|_{\ell^{q}} \right\|_{L^{p_{1}}}^{p_{2}} \\ &\leq C_{p_{1},q} \left(\frac{2}{\lambda} \right)^{p_{2}} \left\| \left\| \left\{ E_{j}(f_{j}) \mathbf{1}_{|\vec{F}| \leq \alpha} \right\} \right\|_{\ell^{q}} \right\|_{L^{p_{2}}}^{p_{2}} \\ &\leq C_{p_{1},q} \left(\frac{2}{\lambda} \right)^{p_{1}} p_{p_{1}} \alpha^{p_{1}-p} \left\| |\vec{F}| \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}^{p_{2}} \\ &+ C_{p_{2},q} \left(\frac{2}{\lambda} \right)^{p_{2}} \frac{p_{2}}{p_{2}-p} \alpha^{p_{2}-p} \left\| |\vec{F}| \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}^{p_{2}} \end{split}$$

$$\leq \left(\frac{p}{p-p_1} + \frac{p_2}{p_2-p}\right) 2^{p_2} (C_{p_1,q})^{\frac{p_2-p}{p_2-p_1}} (C_{p_2,q})^{\frac{p-p_1}{p_2-p_1}} \lambda^{-p} \||\vec{F}|\|_{L^{p,\infty}}^p,$$

setting $\alpha = \lambda \gamma$, $\gamma = \left(\frac{C_{p_1,q}}{C_{p_2,q}}\right)^{\frac{1}{p_2-p_1}}$. Then, there exists a constant C > 0, such that for any sequence of measurable functions $\{f_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{Z}}$ on \mathbb{R}^n ,

$$\|\{\gamma_j E_j(f_j)\}\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^q)} \le C \|\{E_j(f_j)\}\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^q)}.$$

The following lemma is the Fefferman-Stein vector-valued maximal inequality in weak Lebesgue spaces. Its proof can be found in Proposition 4 of reference [17].

Lemma 4.10. Let $p \in (1, \infty)$, and $q \in (1, \infty]$. Then, there exists a positive constant C such that for any sequence of measurable functions $\{f_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ on \mathbb{R}^n ,

$$\left\|\left\{\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\left(\mathcal{M}(f_j)\right)^q\right\}^{\frac{1}{q}}\right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}\leq C\left\|\left\{\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}|f_j|^q\right\}^{\frac{1}{q}}\right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}.$$

The following lemma is extremely useful. It states that for $\delta \in (0,1)$, if for each cube $Q, E_Q \subset Q$, and $|E_Q| \geq \delta |Q|$, then $\mathbf{1}_{E_Q}$ can replace $\mathbf{1}_Q$ in the space $\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}$.

Lemma 4.11. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$, $\delta \in (0, 1)$. Suppose for any dyadic cube $Q \in \mathcal{D}$, $E_Q \subset Q$ is a measurable set and $|E_Q| \ge \delta |Q|$. Then for any sequence $s = \{s_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$,

$$||s||_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}} \sim \left\| \left(\sum_{Q} \left(|Q|^{-\alpha/n} |s_Q| \widetilde{\mathbf{1}}_{E_Q} \right)^q \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}},$$

where $\tilde{\mathbf{1}}_{E_Q} = |E_Q|^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_{E_Q}$.

Proof. Since $\widetilde{\mathbf{1}}_{E_Q} \leq \delta^{-1/2} \mathbf{1}_Q$, it follows that

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{Q} \left(|Q|^{-\alpha/n} |s_{Q}| \widetilde{\mathbf{1}}_{E_{Q}} \right)^{q} \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \leq C \|s\|_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}}.$$

Furthermore, for all A>0, $\mathbf{1}_Q\leq \delta^{-1/A}(\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{1}_{E_Q}^A))^{1/A}$, where \mathcal{M} is the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator. Choose $A\in(0,1)$ small enough so that p/A>1, q/A>1, by the Fefferman-Stein vector-valued maximal inequality in weak Lebesgue spaces, we have

$$\begin{split} \|s\|_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}} & \leq \delta^{-1/A} \left\| \left(\sum_{Q} \left(\mathcal{M} \big(|Q|^{-\alpha/n} |s_Q| \widetilde{\mathbf{1}}_{E_Q} \big)^A \right)^{q/A} \right)^{A/q} \right\|_{L^{p/A,\infty}}^{1/A} \\ & \lesssim \delta^{-1/A} \left\| \left(\sum_{Q} \left(|Q|^{-\alpha/n} |s_Q| \widetilde{\mathbf{1}}_{E_Q} \right)^q \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}. \end{split}$$

Combining these results, we obtain

$$||s||_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}} \sim \left\| \left(\sum_{Q} \left(|Q|^{-\alpha/n} |s_{Q}| \widetilde{\mathbf{1}}_{E_{Q}} \right)^{q} \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}.$$

Theorem 4.12. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$, and $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$. Suppose $\{A_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ is a sequence of reducing operators of order p for W. Then there exists a constant C such that for any sequence $\vec{s} = \{\vec{s}_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$,

$$\|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})} \sim \|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}.$$

Proof. (i) Next, we begin by proving: $\|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)} \lesssim \|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})}$. For $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, define $\gamma_j(x)$ and $E_j(f)$ as in Lemma 4.9. For $\vec{s} = \{\vec{s}_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$, define

$$f_j = \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_j} |Q|^{-\alpha/n - 1/2} |A_Q \vec{s}_Q| \mathbf{1}_Q.$$

Note that on each $Q \in \mathcal{D}_j$, f_j is constant. Thus, $E_j(f_j) = f_j$. Let

$$g_j:=\sum_{Q\in\mathcal{D}_i}|Q|^{-\alpha/n-1/2}|W^{1/p}\vec{s}_Q|\mathbf{1}_Q.$$

Then we have

$$g_j \leq \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_i} |Q|^{-\alpha/n - 1/2} \|W^{-1/p} A_Q^{-1}\| |A_Q \vec{s}_Q| \mathbf{1}_Q = \gamma_j f_j = \gamma_j E_j(f_j).$$

From this and Lemma 4.9, we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)} &= \|\{g_j\}\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^q)} \leq \|\{\gamma_j E_j(f_j)\}\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^q)} \lesssim \|\{E_j(f_j)\}\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^q)} \\ &= \|\{f_j\}\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^q)} = \|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_O\})}. \end{split}$$

(ii) To prove that $||\vec{s}||_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_O\})} \sim ||\vec{s}||_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}$, it remains to show

$$\|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})} \lesssim \|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}.$$

Below, we consider two cases for p:

Case 1: 0 . By (i) of Lemma 3.12,

$$|A_Q \vec{s}_Q| \mathbf{1}_Q \leq \|A_Q W^{-1/p}\| |W^{1/p} \vec{s}_Q| \mathbf{1}_Q \leq C |W^{1/p} \vec{s}_Q| \mathbf{1}_Q \ a.e.,$$

which implies $||\vec{s}||_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})} \lesssim ||\vec{s}||_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}$.

Case 2: p > 1. Select $\eta = 1$ in (ii) of Lemma 3.12 to obtain

$$\sup_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}\int_{Q}\|A_{Q}W^{-1/p}(x)\mathrm{d}x\leq C.$$

For any $Q \in \mathcal{D}$, define the set

$$E_Q:=\{x\in Q:\ \|A_QW^{-1/p}(x)\|\leq 2C\},$$

based on this, Chebyshev's inequality yields

$$|Q \setminus E_Q| \le \int_{Q \setminus E_Q} \frac{\|A_Q W^{-1/p}(x)\|}{2C} dx \le \frac{|Q|}{2C} \oint_Q \|A_Q W^{-1/p}(x)\| dx \le \frac{1}{2} |Q|.$$

Therefore, we have $|E_Q| \ge 1/2|Q|$, and for this we can apply Lemma 4.11 and the inequality $|A_O\vec{s}_O| \le ||A_OW^{-1/p}|||W^{1/p}\vec{s}_O|$,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})} &\sim \left\| \left(\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \left(|Q|^{-\alpha/n - 1/2} |A_Q \vec{s}_Q| \mathbf{1}_{E_Q} \right)^q \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ &\lesssim \left\| \left(\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \left(|Q|^{-\alpha/n - 1/2} |W^{1/p} \vec{s}_Q| \mathbf{1}_{E_Q} \right)^q \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ &\sim \|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}. \end{aligned}$$

5. Boundedness of almost diagonal matrices

First, recall the definition of scalar, unweighted almost diagonal operators (see equation (3.1) in [12]).

Definition 5.1. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$. A matrix $A = \{a_{QP}\}_{Q,P}$ is called almost diagonal if there exists $\epsilon > 0$ such that the matrix satisfies

$$\sup_{Q,P} |a_{QP}|/\omega_{QP}(\epsilon) < \infty, \tag{5.1}$$

denoted as $A \in \mathbf{ad}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\alpha,\mathbf{q}}(\epsilon)$, where

$$\omega_{QP}(\epsilon) = \left(\frac{\ell(Q)}{\ell(P)}\right)^{\alpha} \left(1 + \frac{|x_Q - x_P|}{\max(\ell(P), \ell(Q))}\right)^{-n/\min(1, p, q) - \epsilon} \times \min\left(\left(\frac{\ell(Q)}{\ell(P)}\right)^{(n+\epsilon)/2}, \left(\frac{\ell(P)}{\ell(Q)}\right)^{(n+\epsilon)/2 + n/\min(1, p, q) - n}\right).$$

For the needs of subsequent proofs, we will also require a weighted version of almost diagonal matrices. This differs from the above definition of almost diagonality because it involves the doubling exponent β . The definition was first introduced in [28].

Definition 5.2. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$, and $\beta \geq n$. A matrix $B = \{b_{QP}\}_{Q,P \in \mathcal{D}}$ is called almost diagonal if there exists C > 0 such that for all $Q, P \in \mathcal{D}$,

$$|b_{QP}| \leq C\omega_{QP}$$

denoted by $B \in \mathbf{ad}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\alpha,\mathbf{q}}(\beta)$. Here,

$$\omega_{QP} = \left(1 + \frac{|x_Q - x_P|}{\max(\ell(Q), \ell(P))}\right)^{-R} \min\left\{\left(\frac{\ell(P)}{\ell(Q)}\right)^{\alpha_1} \left(\frac{\ell(Q)}{\ell(P)}\right)^{\alpha_2}\right\}$$
(5.2)

for some

$$\begin{cases} \alpha_1 > -\alpha - n/2 + (\beta - n)/p + n/\min(1, p, q), \\ \alpha_2 > \alpha + n/2 + n/p, \\ R > n/\min(1, p, q) + \beta/p. \end{cases}$$

Remark 5.3. The matrix $B = \{b_{QP}\}_{Q,P \in \mathcal{D}}$ acts on a sequence $\vec{s} = \{\vec{s}_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ via componentwise matrix multiplication: $B\vec{s} = \vec{t} = \{\vec{t}_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$, where $\vec{t}_Q = \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}} b_{QP} \vec{s}_P$.

We now first consider the boundedness of scalar almost diagonal operators on the scalar, unweighted weak discrete Triebel-Lizorkin space $\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}$.

Lemma 5.4. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 , <math>0 < q \leq \infty$. Then on the scalar, unweighted weak discrete Triebel-Lizorkin space $\hat{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}$, almost diagonal operators are bounded.

Proof. Without loss of generality, we may assume $\alpha = 0$, since this case implies the general case. Let $J = \min(1, p, q) - \delta$, where $\delta > 0$ is sufficiently small. Suppose $B = \{b_{QP}\}_{Q,P \in \mathcal{D}}$ is an almost diagonal operator on $\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}$. We first decompose the matrix $B = \{b_{OP}\}_{Q,P \in \mathcal{D}}$ as follows:

$$(Bs)_Q = \sum_P b_{QP} s_P = \sum_{\ell(P) \le \ell(Q)} b_{QP} s_P + \sum_{\ell(P) > \ell(Q)} b_{QP} s_P = \colon (B_0 s)_Q + (B_1 s)_Q.$$

If $\ell(Q) = 2^{-v}$, and $x \in Q$, then by $B \in \mathbf{ad}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\alpha,\mathbf{q}}(\varepsilon)$ and Lemma A.2 in [12], we obtain

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\ell(P) > \ell(Q)} b_{QP} s_P &\lesssim \sum_{\mu < \upsilon} \sum_{\ell(P) = 2^{-\mu}} 2^{(\mu - \upsilon)(n + \varepsilon)/2} (1 + 2^{\mu} |x_Q - x_P|)^{-n/J - \varepsilon} |s_p| \\ &\lesssim \sum_{\mu < \upsilon} 2^{(\mu - \upsilon)(n + \varepsilon)/2} \bigg\{ \mathcal{M} \bigg(\sum_{\ell(P) = 2^{-\mu}} |s_P|^J \mathbf{1}_P \bigg) (x) \bigg\}^{1/J}. \end{split}$$

Therefore,

$$\left\{ \sum_{v \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-v}} \left(|Q|^{-\frac{1}{2}} |(B_1 s)_Q| \mathbf{1}_Q \right)^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \\
\lesssim \left\{ \sum_{v \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-v}} \left(2^{\frac{vn}{2}} \sum_{\mu < v} 2^{(\mu-v)\frac{n+\varepsilon}{2}} \left(\mathcal{M} \left(\sum_{\ell(P)=2^{-\mu}} |s_P|^J \mathbf{1}_P \right) (x) \right)^{\frac{1}{J}} \right)^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \\
= \left\{ \sum_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{v=\mu+1}^{\infty} \left(2^{\frac{vn}{2}} 2^{(\mu-v)\frac{n+\varepsilon}{2}} \left(\mathcal{M} \left(\sum_{\ell(P)=2^{-\mu}} |s_P|^J \mathbf{1}_P \right) (x) \right)^{\frac{1}{J}} \right)^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}}.$$

Combining this with the Fefferman-Stein vector-valued maximal inequality in $L^{p,\infty}$, we immediately arrive at the following conclusion,

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \left\| B_1 s \right\|_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{0,q}} \\ & = \left\| \left\{ \sum_{v \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(Q) = 2^{-v}} \left(|Q|^{-\frac{1}{2}} |(B_1 s)_Q| \mathbf{1}_Q \right)^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left\{ \sum_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{v = \mu + 1}^{\infty} \left(2^{\frac{vn}{2}} 2^{(\mu - v)\frac{n + \varepsilon}{2}} \left(\mathcal{M} \left(\sum_{\ell(P) = 2^{-\mu}} |s_P|^J \mathbf{1}_P \right) (x) \right)^{\frac{1}{J}} \right)^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left\{ \sum_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(P) = 2^{-\mu}} \left(|P|^{-\frac{1}{2}} |s_P| \mathbf{1}_P \right)^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left\{ \sum_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(P) = 2^{-\mu}} \left(|P|^{-\frac{1}{2}} |s_P| \mathbf{1}_P \right)^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \end{aligned}$$

We now estimate B_0s . For $x \in Q$, since $B \in \mathbf{ad}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\alpha,\mathbf{q}}(\epsilon)$, we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\ell(P) \leq \ell(Q)} b_{QP} s_P \lesssim \sum_{\mu \geq \upsilon} \sum_{\ell(P) = 2^{-\mu}} 2^{(\upsilon - \mu)((n + \varepsilon)/2 + n/J - n)} \\ & \times (1 + 2^{\upsilon} |x_Q - x_P|)^{-n/J - \varepsilon} |s_P|, \end{split}$$

thus, by Lemma A.3 in [12], we obtain

$$\left\{ \sum_{v \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-v}} \left(|Q|^{-\frac{1}{2}} |(B_0 s)_Q| \mathbf{1}_Q \right)^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \\
\lesssim \left\{ \sum_{v \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-v}} |Q|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{\mu \geq v} \sum_{\ell(P)=2^{-\mu}} 2^{(v-\mu)(\frac{n+\epsilon}{2} + \frac{n}{J} - n)} \right. \\
\left. \times (1 + 2^v |x_Q - x_P|)^{-\frac{n}{J} - \epsilon} |s_P| \mathbf{1}_Q \right)^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \\
= \left\{ \sum_{v \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{\mu \geq v} \sum_{\ell(P)=2^{-\mu}} 2^{\frac{(v-\mu)n}{2}} |P|^{-\frac{1}{2}} 2^{(v-\mu)(\frac{n+\epsilon}{2} + \frac{n}{J} - n)} \right. \\
\left. \times \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-v}} (1 + 2^v |x_Q - x_P|)^{-\frac{n}{J} - \epsilon} |s_P| \mathbf{1}_P \right)^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

$$\lesssim \left\{ \sum_{v \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{\mu \geq v} \sum_{\ell(P) = 2^{-\mu}} 2^{\frac{(v - \mu)n}{2}} |P|^{-\frac{1}{2}} 2^{(v - \mu)(\frac{n + \epsilon}{2} + \frac{n}{J} - n)} \right) \right. \\
\left. \times \left(\mathcal{M} \left(\sum_{\ell(P) = 2^{-\mu}} |s_P|^J \mathbf{1}_P \right) \mathbf{1}_P \right)^{\frac{1}{J}} \right)^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \\
\lesssim \left\{ \sum_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(P) = 2^{-\mu}} |P|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{v = -\infty}^{\mu} 2^{(v - \mu)(\frac{\epsilon}{2} + \frac{n}{J})} \right) \\
\times \left(\mathcal{M} \left(\sum_{\ell(P) = 2^{-\mu}} |s_P|^J \mathbf{1}_P \right) \mathbf{1}_P \right)^{\frac{1}{J}} \right)^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \\
\lesssim \left\{ \sum_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(P) = 2^{-\mu}} \left(|P|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\mathcal{M} \left(\sum_{\ell(P) = 2^{-\mu}} |s_P|^J \mathbf{1}_P \right) \mathbf{1}_P \right)^{\frac{1}{J}} \right)^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right. \\
\lesssim \left\{ \sum_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(P) = 2^{-\mu}} \left(|P|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\mathcal{M} \left(\sum_{\ell(P) = 2^{-\mu}} |s_P|^J \mathbf{1}_P \right) \mathbf{1}_P \right)^{\frac{1}{J}} \right)^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right.$$

From this, and then applying the Fefferman-Stein vector-valued maximal inequality on the space $L^{p,\infty}$, we conclude that

$$\begin{split} & = \left\| \left\{ \sum_{v \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(Q) = 2^{-v}} \left(|Q|^{-\frac{1}{2}} |(B_0 s)_Q| \mathbf{1}_Q \right)^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left\{ \sum_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(P) = 2^{-\mu}} \left(|P|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\mathcal{M} \left(\sum_{\ell(P) = 2^{-\mu}} |s_P|^J \mathbf{1}_P \right) \mathbf{1}_P \right)^{\frac{1}{J}} \right)^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left\{ \sum_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(P) = 2^{-\mu}} \left(|P|^{-\frac{1}{2}} |s_P| \mathbf{1}_P \right)^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} = \|s\|_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{0,q}}. \end{split}$$

In summary, the almost diagonal operator B is bounded on the space $\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}$. \Box

Next, in the weighted case, consider the boundedness of almost diagonal matrices on the space $f_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})$.

Theorem 5.5. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$. Suppose the sequence of non-negative definite matrices $\{A_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ is strongly doubling of order (β, p) for some $\beta > 0$. If $B \in \mathbf{ad}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\alpha,\mathbf{q}}(\beta)$, then B is bounded on the space $\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})$.

Proof. For $\vec{s} \in f_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})$, define $\vec{t} = B\vec{s}$, $B = \{b_{QP}\}_{Q,P \in \mathcal{D}}$. Define a scalar sequence $t_A = \{t_{A,Q}\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ with $t_{A,Q} = |A_Q\vec{t_Q}|$, and similarly $s_A = \{s_{A,Q}\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ with $s_{A,Q} = |A_Q\vec{s_Q}|$. Then

$$\|\vec{t}\|_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})} = \|t_A\|_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}} \text{ and } \|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})} = \|s_A\|_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}},$$

where $\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}$ is the scalar, unweighted weak discrete Triebel-Lizorkin space defined earlier. Let $G = \{\gamma_{QP}\} = \{\omega_{QP} || A_Q A_P^{-1} || \}$, and from this, along with $\vec{t_Q} = \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}} b_{QP} \vec{s_P}$, $B \in \mathbf{ad}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\alpha,\mathbf{q}}(\beta)$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} t_{A,Q} &= |A_{Q}\vec{t_{Q}}| = |A_{Q}\sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}}b_{QP}\vec{s_{P}}| \leq \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}}|b_{QP}||A_{Q}\vec{s_{P}}| \\ &\lesssim \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}}\omega_{QP}||A_{Q}A_{P}^{-1}|||A_{P}\vec{s_{P}}| = \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}}\gamma_{QP}s_{A,P}. \end{aligned}$$

That is, $t_{A,Q} \lesssim (G(s_A))_Q$. Since $\{A_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ is strongly doubling of order (β, p) , then γ_{QP} satisfies the scalar unweighted almost diagonal condition (5.1), which meaning G is a scalar unweighted almost diagonal operator. Therefore, by Lemma 5.4, it follows that G is bounded on $\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}$. Thus,

$$\|\vec{t}\|_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})} = \|t_A\|_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}} \lesssim \|G(s_A)\|_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}} \lesssim \|s_A\|_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}} = \|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})}.$$

Thus, *B* is bounded on the space $\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})$.

6. Molecular characterization

Below, we recall the definitions of smooth molecules and atoms.

Definition 6.1. *Let* $N \in \mathbb{Z}_+$. *If*

- (i) supp $a_O \subseteq 3Q$,
- (ii) $\int x^{\gamma} a_O(x) dx = 0$, $|\gamma| \le N$,
- (iii) $|D^{\gamma}a_{Q}(x)| \le c_{\gamma} \ell(Q)^{-|\gamma|-n/2}, |\gamma| \ge 0.$

then the function $a_O \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is called a smooth N-atom.

Definition 6.2. Let $0 < \delta \le 1$, M > 0, and N, $K \in \mathbb{Z}$, if there exist $\epsilon > 0$, C > 0, such that for all $Q \in \mathcal{D}$,

(i) $\int x^{\gamma} m_O(x) dx = 0$, $|\gamma| \le N$,

(ii)
$$|m_Q(x)| \le C|Q|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(1 + \frac{|x - x_Q|}{\ell(Q)}\right)^{-\max(M, N+1+n+\epsilon)}$$

(iii)
$$|D^{\gamma} m_{Q}(x)| \le C|Q|^{-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{|\gamma|}{n}} \left(1 + \frac{|x - x_{Q}|}{\ell(Q)}\right)^{-M}, |\gamma| \le K,$$

(iv) if $|\gamma| = K$,

$$|D^{\gamma} m_Q(x) - D^{\gamma} m_Q(y)| \le C|Q|^{-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{|\gamma|}{n} - \frac{\delta}{n}} |x - y|^{\delta}$$

$$\times \sup_{|z| \le |x-y|} \left(1 + \frac{|x-z-x_Q|}{\ell(Q)} \right)^{-M},$$

then $\{m_0\}_{0\in\mathcal{D}}$ is called a family of smooth (N, K, M, δ) -molecules.

Obviously, a smooth atom is a molecule.

The following lemma is the discrete version of the Calderón reproducing formula (see Lemma 2.1 in [38]).

Lemma 6.3. Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}$, and define $\hat{\psi} = \hat{\varphi}/(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\varphi_j}|^2)$, then $\psi \in \mathcal{A}$, and for all $\xi \neq 0$, $\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \overline{\widehat{\varphi_j}}(\xi) \widehat{\psi_j}(\xi) = 1$. Under this condition, assuming further that both $\sup \hat{\varphi}$, $\sup \hat{\psi}$ are compact and bounded away from the origin. Consequently, for any $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$f = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{-jn} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} (\widetilde{\varphi_j} * f) (2^{-j}k) \psi_j(x - 2^{-j}k) = \sum_Q \langle f, \varphi_Q \rangle \psi_Q$$

converges in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Theorem 6.4. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$. Assume that the sequence of non-negative definite matrices $\{A_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ is strongly doubling of order (β, p) . Let $0 < \delta \leq 1$, M > 0, and N, $K \in \mathbb{Z}$, satisfy $N > -\alpha + (\beta - n)/p + n/\min(1, p, q) - n - 1$, $K + \delta > \alpha + n/p$, $M > n/\min(1, p, q) + \beta/p$. Suppose $\{m_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ is a family of smooth (N, K, M, δ) -molecules, $\vec{s} = \{\vec{s}_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \in \dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})$, and $\vec{f} = \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \vec{s}_Q m_Q \in (\mathcal{S}_\infty'(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$, then $\vec{f} = \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \vec{s}_Q m_Q \in \dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})$ and

(a)
$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})} \lesssim \|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})}$$
.

In particular, if $\vec{s}_Q = \langle \vec{f}, \varphi_Q \rangle$, $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$, $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}$, then

$$(\mathbf{b}) \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{n,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})} \lesssim \|\{\langle \vec{f}, \varphi_Q \rangle\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}\|_{\dot{F}_{n,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})}.$$

Proof. First, we prove the conclusion (a). For $Q \in \mathcal{D}$, let

$$g_Q = |Q|^{1/2} |A_Q \varphi_j * \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}} \vec{s_P} m_P|.$$

Then

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})} = \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \left(|Q|^{-\frac{\alpha}{n} - \frac{1}{2}} g_Q \mathbf{1}_Q \right)^q \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}.$$

Notice that for any $P, Q \in \mathcal{D}, x \in Q$,

$$1 + \frac{|x - x_P|}{\max\{\ell(P), \ell(Q)\}} \sim 1 + \frac{|x_Q - x_P|}{\max\{\ell(P), \ell(Q)\}}.$$

Therefore, by Lemma 2.8 in [15] and (5.2), and for $x \in Q$, $|Q|^{1/2}|\varphi_j * m_P(x)| \lesssim \omega_{OP}$. Thus,

$$g_{Q}\mathbf{1}_{Q} \leq \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}} |Q|^{\frac{1}{2}} |\varphi_{j} * m_{P}| |A_{Q}\vec{s_{P}}| \mathbf{1}_{Q} \lesssim \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}} \omega_{QP} ||A_{Q}A_{P}^{-1}|| |A_{P}\vec{s_{P}}| \mathbf{1}_{Q}.$$

Define G and s_A as in Theorem 5.5, then by the above,

$$g_Q \mathbf{1}_Q \lesssim \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}} \gamma_{QP} s_{A,P} \mathbf{1}_Q \lesssim (G(s_A))_Q \mathbf{1}_Q.$$

And by Lemma 5.4, we know that G is bounded on the scalar, unweighted space $\hat{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}$, hence

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})} \lesssim \|G(s_A)\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}} \lesssim \|s_A\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}} = \|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})}.$$

We next prove the conclusion (**b**). For any $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}$, let $\hat{\psi} = \hat{\varphi}/(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\hat{\varphi_j}|^2)$, by Lemma 6.3, for any $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $f = \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \langle f, \varphi_Q \rangle \psi_Q$ converges in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Accordingly, for any vector-valued function $\vec{f} := (f_1, \dots, f_m)^T \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$, we naturally have $\vec{f} = \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \langle \vec{f}, \varphi_Q \rangle \psi_Q := \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \vec{s}_Q \psi_Q \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$, and for any possible N, K, M, δ , $\{\psi_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ is a family of smooth (N, K, M, δ) -molecules. Then by conclusion (**a**), we immediately have

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})} \lesssim \|\{\langle \vec{f}, \varphi_Q \rangle\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})}.$$

7. Equivalence of the spaces $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})$ and $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$

Lemma 7.1. Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}$. Define $\widetilde{\varphi}(x) = \overline{\varphi(-x)}$. Suppose that the sequence of non-negative definite matrices $\{A_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$ is weakly doubling of any order r>0. Then for $\alpha\in\mathbb{R},\ p\in(0,\infty),\ q\in(0,\infty]$, there exists a constant C such that for any $\overrightarrow{f}\in(\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\left\|\left\{\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\sum_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}\left(2^{j\alpha}\sup_{x\in Q}|A_{Q}\varphi_{j}\ast\vec{f}(x)|\mathbf{1}_{Q}\right)^{q}\right\}^{\frac{1}{q}}\right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}\leq C\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_{Q}\})},$$

and

$$\left\|\{\langle\vec{f},\widetilde{\varphi}_Q\rangle\}\right\|_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})}\leq C\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})}.$$

Proof. Choose a sufficiently small $A \in (0,1)$ such that p/A > 1 and q/A > 1. For any R > 0, by Lemma 4.6

$$\sum_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}(2^{j\alpha}\sup_{Q}|A_{Q}\varphi_{j}\ast\vec{f}|\mathbf{1}_{Q})^{q}=\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}}2^{j\alpha q}\sup_{x\in Q_{jk}}|A_{Q_{jk}}\varphi_{j}\ast\vec{f}(x)|^{q}\mathbf{1}_{Q_{jk}}(x)$$

$$\lesssim \Big|\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^n}\sum_{\ell\in\mathbb{Z}^n}(1+|k-\ell|)^{-A(R-r)}2^{jn}\int_{Q_{j\ell}}|2^{j\alpha}A_{Q_{j\ell}}\varphi_j*\vec{f}(s)|^A\mathrm{d} s\mathbf{1}_{Q_{jk}}\Big|^{\frac{q}{A}}.$$

Accordingly, also $A \in (0, 1)$, and by the arbitrariness of R > 0 and r > 0, choose R sufficiently large and r sufficiently small such that A(R-r) > n, then applying Lemma 4.7 with $h = \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} (2^{j\alpha} |A_Q \varphi_j * \vec{f} | \mathbf{1}_Q)^A$,

$$\sum_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}(2^{j\alpha}\sup_{Q}|A_{Q}\varphi_{j}*\vec{f}|\mathbf{1}_{Q})^{q}\lesssim \left(\mathcal{M}\left(\sum_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}\left(2^{j\alpha}|A_{Q}\varphi_{j}*\vec{f}|\mathbf{1}_{Q}\right)^{A}\right)\right)^{q/A}.$$

Since p/A > 1 and q/A > 1, by Lemma 4.10,

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \left(2^{j\alpha} \sup_{Q} |A_{Q} \varphi_{j} * \vec{f} | \mathbf{1}_{Q} \right)^{q} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\mathcal{M} \left(\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} (2^{j\alpha} |A_{Q} \varphi_{j} * \vec{f} | \mathbf{1}_{Q})^{A} \right) \right)^{\frac{q}{A}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ & = \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\mathcal{M} \left(\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} (2^{j\alpha} |A_{Q} \varphi_{j} * \vec{f} | \mathbf{1}_{Q})^{A} \right) \right)^{\frac{q}{A}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p/A,\infty}}^{\frac{1}{A}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \left(2^{j\alpha} |A_{Q} \varphi_{j} * \vec{f} | \mathbf{1}_{Q} \right)^{q} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}^{\frac{1}{2}} = \| \vec{f} \|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_{Q}\})}^{\alpha,q} \right\}. \end{split}$$

Furthermore, $|Q_{jk}|^{-1/2} \langle \vec{f}, \widetilde{\varphi}_{Q_{jk}} \rangle = \varphi_j * \vec{f}(x_{Q_{jk}})$, therefore

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \{ \langle \vec{f}, \widetilde{\varphi}_{Q} \rangle \} \right\|_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_{Q}\})} &= \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \left(|Q|^{-\alpha/n} |A_{Q} \varphi_{j} * \vec{f}(x_{Q})| \mathbf{1}_{Q} \right)^{q} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ &\lesssim \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \left(2^{j\alpha} \sup_{x \in Q} |A_{Q} \varphi_{j} * \vec{f}(x)| \mathbf{1}_{Q} \right)^{q} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ &\lesssim \| \vec{f} \|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_{Q}\})}. \end{aligned}$$

Theorem 7.2. Let $m \in \mathbb{N}$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 , <math>0 < q \le \infty$, $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$, $\{A_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ be a sequence of p-order reducing operators for W, and $\{\varphi_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}_+} \in \Phi$. Then for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$, we have

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)} \sim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})},$$

where the positive constant of equivalence is independent of \vec{f} .

Proof. First, we prove

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_O\})} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}.$$

Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}$ be the test function defined in both $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})$ and $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$. Set $\widetilde{\varphi}(x) = \overline{\varphi(-x)}$. First, we prove

$$\|\{\langle \vec{f}, \widetilde{\varphi}_{Q} \rangle\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}\|_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_{Q}\})} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}. \tag{7.1}$$

i) When 0 , by part (i) of Lemma 3.12, we have

$$|A_{Q_{j\ell}}\varphi_j*\vec{f}(x)|^A \leq \|A_{Q_{j\ell}}W^{-1/p}\||W^{1/p}\varphi_j*\vec{f}(x)|^A \lesssim |W^{1/p}\varphi_j*\vec{f}(x)|^A \ a.e.$$

Furthermore, since $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$, the sequence $\{A_Q\}$ is weakly doubling of order r > 0. Therefore, for any $A \in (0, 1)$, R > 0, by Lemma 4.6, we have

$$\sup_{x \in Q_{jk}} |A_{Q_{jk}} \varphi_j * \vec{f}(x)|^A \lesssim \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^n} (1 + |k - \ell|)^{-A(R-r)} 2^{jn} \int_{Q_{j\ell}} |W^{1/p} \varphi_j * \vec{f}(x)|^A dx.$$

Thus,

$$\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} (2^{j\alpha} \sup_{Q} |A_{Q} \varphi_{j} * \vec{f} | \mathbf{1}_{Q})^{q} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} 2^{j\alpha q} \sup_{x \in Q_{jk}} |A_{Q_{jk}} \varphi_{j} * \vec{f}(x)|^{A \cdot \frac{q}{A}} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{jk}}(x)$$

$$\lesssim \Big| \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (1 + |k - \ell|)^{-A(R-r)} 2^{jn} \int_{Q_{j\ell}} |2^{j\alpha} W^{\frac{1}{p}} \varphi_{j} * \vec{f}(x)|^{A} dx \mathbf{1}_{Q_{jk}} \Big|^{\frac{q}{A}}.$$

Accordingly, also $A \in (0, 1)$, and by the arbitrariness of R > 0, r > 0, we choose R sufficiently large and r sufficiently small such that $\eta = A(R - r) > n$ holds. Then, setting $h = |2^{j\alpha}W^{1/p}\varphi_i * \vec{f}|^A$ in Lemma 4.7, we have

$$\sum_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}(2^{j\alpha}\sup_{Q}|A_{Q}\varphi_{j}*\vec{f}|\mathbf{1}_{Q})^{q}\lesssim \left(\mathcal{M}\left(|2^{j\alpha}W^{1/p}\varphi_{j}*\vec{f}|^{A}\right)\right)^{\frac{q}{A}}.$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \left(2^{j\alpha} \sup_{Q} |A_{Q} \varphi_{j} * \vec{f} | \mathbf{1}_{Q} \right)^{q} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\mathcal{M} \left(|2^{j\alpha} W^{\frac{1}{p}} \varphi_{j} * \vec{f} |^{A} \right) \right)^{\frac{q}{A}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ & = \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\mathcal{M} \left(|2^{j\alpha} W^{\frac{1}{p}} \varphi_{j} * \vec{f} |^{A} \right) \right)^{\frac{q}{A}} \right\}^{\frac{A}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p/A,\infty}}^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| 2^{j\alpha} W^{\frac{1}{p}} \varphi_{j} * \vec{f} |^{q} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ & = \| \vec{f} \|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}. \end{split}$$

Here, the last inequality follows from p/A>1, and q/A>1, using Lemma 4.10. Since $|Q_{jk}|^{-1/2}\langle\vec{f},\widetilde{\varphi}_{Q_{jk}}\rangle=\varphi_j*\vec{f}(x_{Q_{jk}})$, we have

$$\|\{\langle \vec{f}, \widetilde{\varphi}_Q \rangle\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}\|_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})} = \left\|\left\{\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \left(2^{j\alpha} |A_Q \varphi_j * \vec{f}(x_Q)| \mathbf{1}_Q\right)^q\right\}^{\frac{1}{q}}\right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}$$

$$\leq \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \left(2^{j\alpha} \sup_{Q} |A_{Q} \varphi_{j} * \vec{f}| \mathbf{1}_{Q} \right)^{q} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{n,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}.$$

Since $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$, the sequence $\{A_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ is strongly doubling of order (β, p) . Then, replacing φ with $\widetilde{\varphi} \in \mathcal{A}$ in Theorem 6.4, we have

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})} \lesssim \|\{\langle \vec{f}, \widetilde{\varphi}_Q \rangle\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})}.$$

Hence, for $p \in (0,1]$, we have $\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}$.

ii) When 1 , by the proof of Theorem 3.5 in reference [15], we have

$$\sup_{x \in Q_{jk}} |A_{Q_{jk}} \varphi_j * \vec{f}(x)|^{At} \lesssim \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^n} (1 + |k - \ell|)^{-A(R-r)} 2^{jn} \int_{Q_{j\ell}} |W^{1/p} \varphi_j * \vec{f}|^{At} dx.$$

Replacing *A* with *At* and using the same method as in the case 0 , we can similarly prove

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}.$$

Next, we prove $\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{n,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{n,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_0\})}$. Define

$$h_j(x) = 2^{j\alpha} |W^{1/p}(x)\varphi_j * \vec{f}(x)|$$

and

$$k_j = \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} |Q|^{-\alpha/n} \Big(\sup_{x \in Q} |A_Q \varphi_j * \vec{f}(x)| \Big) \mathbf{1}_Q, \quad j \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

Each k_i is constant on cubes $Q \in \mathcal{D}$. Then,

$$h_j \leq \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} |Q|^{-\alpha/n} \|W^{1/p} A_Q^{-1}\| |A_Q \varphi_j * \vec{f}| \mathbf{1}_Q \leq \gamma_j k_j.$$

Here, $\gamma_j(x) = \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \|W^{1/p}(x)A_Q^{-1}\|\mathbf{1}_Q$, defined identically to that in Lemma 4.9. From this and by Lemma 4.9,

$$\begin{split} \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)} &= \|\{h_j\}\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^q)} \leq \|\{\gamma_j k_j\}\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^q)} = \|\{\gamma_j E_j(k_j)\}\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^q)} \\ &\lesssim \|\{E_j(k_j)\}\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^q)} = \|\{k_j\}\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^q)} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_\Omega\})}, \end{split}$$

where the last step follows from Lemma 7.1.

Since the definitions of the spaces $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(A_Q)$ and $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$ directly involve φ , they appear to depend on the choice of φ . However, the following lemma shows that this is not the case. It demonstrates that the definitions of both spaces $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(A_Q)$ and $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$ are independent of the choice of $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}$.

Theorem 7.3. Let $0 , <math>0 < q \le \infty$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$, and $\{A_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ be a sequence of p-order reducing operators for W. Then for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$ and $\varphi^{(1)}, \varphi^{(2)} \in \mathcal{A}$, we have

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\},\varphi^{(1)})} \sim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\},\varphi^{(2)})} \ and \ \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W,\varphi^{(1)})} \sim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W,\varphi^{(2)})}.$$

Proof. For $\varphi^{(1)}, \varphi^{(2)} \in \mathcal{A}$, denote the space defined by $\varphi^{(1)}$ as $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\}, \varphi^{(1)})$ and the space defined by $\varphi^{(2)}$ as $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\}, \varphi^{(2)})$. Define $\vec{s} = \{\vec{s}_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ by $\vec{s}_Q = \langle \vec{f}, \widetilde{\varphi}_Q^{(1)} \rangle$, and define $\vec{t} = \{\vec{t}_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ by $\vec{t}_Q = \langle \vec{f}, \varphi_Q^{(2)} \rangle$. Accordingly, choose $\widehat{\psi} = \widehat{\varphi}^{(1)} / \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\varphi_j^{(1)}}|^2$ and $\widehat{\tau} = \widehat{\varphi}^{(2)} / \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\varphi_j^{(2)}}|^2$. Then $\psi, \tau \in \mathcal{A}$, and for all $\xi \neq 0$, we have

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \overline{\widehat{\varphi_j^{(1)}}}(\xi) \widehat{\psi_j}(\xi) = 1 \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \overline{\widehat{\varphi_j^{(2)}}}(\xi) \widehat{\tau_j}(\xi) = 1.$$

From this, using Lemma 6.3, for $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$, we have $\vec{f} = \sum_Q \langle \vec{f}, \varphi_Q^{(1)} \rangle \psi_Q$, with convergence in $(\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$.

Moreover, note that for all $\xi \neq 0$,

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\overline{\widehat{\psi_j}}(\xi)\widehat{\widetilde{\varphi_j^{(1)}}}(\xi)=\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\overline{\widehat{\varphi_j^{(1)}}}(\xi)\widehat{\psi_j}(\xi)=1.$$

From this, by replacing \vec{f} , $\varphi^{(1)}$, and ψ in $\vec{f} = \sum_{Q} \langle \vec{f}, \varphi_{Q}^{(1)} \rangle \psi_{Q}$ with $\varphi_{Q}^{(2)}$, $\widetilde{\psi}$, and $\widetilde{\varphi}^{(1)}$, respectively, we obtain

$$\varphi_Q^{(2)} = \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}} \langle \varphi_Q^{(2)}, \widetilde{\psi}_P \rangle \widetilde{\varphi}_P^{(1)}.$$

Furthermore, since $\varphi_O^{(2)} \in \mathcal{S}_0$, where

$$S_0 := \{g \in S : \text{ for all multi-indices } \alpha, D^{\alpha} \hat{g}(0) = 0\},\$$

then $\varphi_Q^{(2)} = \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}} \langle \varphi_Q^{(2)}, \widetilde{\psi}_P \rangle \widetilde{\varphi}_P^{(1)}$ converges in \mathcal{S} .

Therefore, for $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$

$$\vec{t}_Q = \langle \vec{f}, \varphi_Q^{(2)} \rangle = \left\langle \vec{f}, \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}} \langle \varphi_Q^{(2)}, \widetilde{\psi}_P \rangle \widetilde{\varphi}_P^{(1)} \right\rangle = \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}} \langle \varphi_Q^{(2)}, \widetilde{\psi}_P \rangle \vec{\tilde{s}}_P.$$

Set $b_{QP} = \langle \varphi_Q^{(2)}, \widetilde{\psi}_P \rangle$ and the matrix $B = \{b_{QP}\}_{Q,P \in \mathcal{D}}$. Also, $\{\psi_P\}_{P \in \mathcal{D}}$ is a family of smooth (N,K,M,δ) -molecules for all possible N,K,M,δ . Accordingly, by Lemma 2.8 in reference [15], we have

$$b_{QP} = \langle \varphi_Q^{(2)}, \widetilde{\psi}_P \rangle = |Q|^{1/2} \varphi_j^{(2)} * \psi_P(x_Q) \le C|Q|^{1/2} 2^{(kn)/2} \omega_{QP} \le C \omega_{QP},$$

that is, the matrix $B = \{b_{QP}\}_{Q,P \in \mathcal{D}}$ is almost diagonal, $B \in \mathbf{ad}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\alpha,\mathbf{q}}(\beta)$. Then by Theorem 5.5, B is bounded on the space $\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})$. From this and Lemma 7.1, it follows that

$$\|\vec{t}\|_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_{O}\})} = \|B\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_{O}\})} \le C\|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_{O}\})} \le C\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_{O}\},\varphi^{(1)})}.$$

Replacing φ with $\varphi^{(2)}$ in Theorem 6.4, we have

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\},\varphi^{(2)})} \le C \|\vec{t}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})}.$$

Combining the above, we obtain

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\},\varphi^{(2)})} \leq C \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\},\varphi^{(1)})}.$$

By interchanging $\varphi^{(2)}$ and $\varphi^{(1)}$, we obtain the equivalence of $\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_0\},\varphi^{(1)})}$ and $\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\},\varphi^{(2)})}$. Moreover, by Theorem 7.2, we have

$$||\vec{f}||_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W,\varphi^{(1)})} \sim ||\vec{f}||_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\},\varphi^{(1)})} \text{ and } ||\vec{f}||_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W,\varphi^{(2)})} \sim ||\vec{f}||_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\},\varphi^{(2)})}.$$

Therefore,

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W,\varphi^{(1)})} \sim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W,\varphi^{(2)})}.$$

Corollary 7.4. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 , <math>0 < q \leq \infty$, $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$, and $\{A_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ be a sequence of p-order reducing operators for W. Set $\vec{s} = \{\vec{s}_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$, where $\vec{s}_Q := \langle \vec{f}, \varphi_Q \rangle$. Then for any $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}$ and $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$, we have

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_O\})} \sim \|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_O\})}.$$

Proof. Replacing $\widetilde{\varphi}$ with φ in Lemma 7.1 and using Theorem 7.3, we obtain

$$\|\{\langle \vec{f}, \varphi_Q \rangle\}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha, q}_{p, \infty}(\{A_Q\})} \le C \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha, q}_{p, \infty}(\{A_Q\}, \widetilde{\varphi})} \sim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha, q}_{p, \infty}(\{A_Q\}, \varphi)}.$$

Combining this with Theorem 6.4, we have

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})} \sim \|\{\langle \vec{f}, \varphi_Q \rangle\}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})}.$$

Since $\vec{s}_O = \langle \vec{f}, \varphi_O \rangle$ and $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}$, it follows immediately that

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_O\})} \sim \|\vec{s}\|_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_O\})}.$$

Combining the above results with Theorem 7.2 and Theorem 4.12, we obtain the following equivalent norms:

$$||\vec{f}||_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)} \sim ||\vec{f}||_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})} \sim ||\vec{s}||_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})} \sim ||\vec{s}||_{\dot{f}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)},$$

establishing complete equivalences between the matrix-weighted weak Triebel-Lizorkin spaces and their sequence space counterparts.

8. Characterizations via maximal functions: Peetre, Lusin, and $\boldsymbol{g}_{\lambda}^{*}$

In this section, the matrix-weighted weak Triebel-Lizorkin space $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$ is characterized using the Peetre maximal function, the Lusin area function, and the Littlewood-Paley g_{1}^{*} -function.

Similar to the classical Peetre maximal function in [26], the concept of the matrix-weighted Peetre maximal function is introduced in [35]. Let $p \in (0, \infty)$, $m \in \mathbb{N}$, $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$, $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$. For any given $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $a \in (0, \infty)$, $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, define

$$(\varphi_j^* \vec{f})_a^{(W,p)}(x) := \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|W^{1/p}(x)(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(y)|}{(1 + 2^j |x - y|)^a}.$$

Theorem 8.1. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 , <math>0 < q \le \infty$, $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$, $a \in (n/\min\{1, p, q\} + \beta/p, \infty)$, where β is the doubling exponent of W. Let $\{\varphi_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}_+} \in \Phi$. Then $\vec{f} \in \dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$ if and only if $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$ and $||\vec{f}||_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\star} < \infty$, where

$$||\vec{f}||_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\star} := \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{j\alpha q} \left((\varphi_j^* \vec{f})_a^{(W,p)} \right)^q \right\}^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}.$$

When $q = \infty$, the usual modification is made. Moreover, for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)} \sim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}^{\star},$$

where the positive equivalence constants are independent of \vec{f} .

Proof. By the definition of $(\varphi_i^* \vec{f})_a^{(W,p)}(x)$, we have

$$|W^{\frac{1}{p}}(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(x)| \le (\varphi_i^* \vec{f})_a^{(W,p)}(x),$$

which immediately implies

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|^{\star}_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}.$$

Therefore, to prove $||\vec{f}||_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}^{\star} \sim ||\vec{f}||_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}$, it suffices to show

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\star} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}.$$
 (8.1)

Let $\{A_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$ be the sequence of p-th order reducing operators for W, and for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$, let

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}\{A_Q\}\}}^{\star} := \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_j} 2^{j\alpha q} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|A_Q(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(y)|^q}{(1 + 2^j |\cdot - y|)^{aq}} \mathbf{1}_Q \right\}^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}, \quad (8.2)$$

where $j \in \mathbb{Z}$. To prove (8.1), we first prove that for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})}^{\star} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})}. \tag{8.3}$$

By (3.10) in reference [35], for any given $A \in (0,1]$, any $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$, and $x \in Q_{jk}$,

$$\sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|A_{Q_{jk}}(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(y)|^A}{(1+2^j|x-y|)^{aA}}$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^n} (1 + |k - \ell|)^{-A(a-r)} 2^{jn} \int_{Q_{j\ell}} |A_{Q_{j\ell}}(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(z)|^A dz, \tag{8.4}$$

where $r := \beta/p$ and $a \in [r, \infty)$. Let $A \in (0, 1]$ satisfy q/A > 1, from this, (8.4), and the disjointness of the dyadic cubes Q_{ik} for any $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, we have

$$\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_{j}} \left\{ 2^{j\alpha} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{\left| A_{Q}(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(y) \right|}{(1 + 2^{j} | \cdot - y|)^{a}} \mathbf{1}_{Q}(\cdot) \right\}^{q}$$

$$= \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} 2^{j\alpha q} \left\{ \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{\left| A_{Q_{jk}}(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(y) \right|^{A}}{(1 + 2^{j} | \cdot - y|)^{aA}} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{jk}}(\cdot) \right\}^{q/A}$$

$$\lesssim \left\{ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (1 + |k - \ell|)^{-A(a-r)} 2^{jn} \right\}$$

$$\times \int_{Q_{j\ell}} \left| 2^{j\alpha} A_{Q_{j\ell}}(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(z) \right|^{A} dz \mathbf{1}_{Q_{jk}}(\cdot)$$

Since $a \in (n/\min\{1, p, q\} + r, \infty)$, we have $\min\{1, p, q\}(a-r) > n$, therefore, we can choose $A \in (0, 1]$ such that A(a-r) > n, p/A > 1, and q/A > 1. Thus, by Lemma 4.7 and the Fefferman-Stein vector-valued maximal inequality in weak Lebesgue spaces, for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} & \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})}^{\star} \\ & = \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_j} \left\{ 2^{j\alpha} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|A_Q(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(y)|}{(1 + 2^j | \cdot - y|)^a} \mathbf{1}_Q \right\}^q \right\}^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\mathcal{M} \left(\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_j} \left(2^{j\alpha} |A_Q(\varphi_j * \vec{f})| \mathbf{1}_Q \right)^A \right) \right)^{q/A} \right\}^{A/q} \right\|_{L^{p/A,\infty}}^{1/A} \\ & \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})}. \end{split}$$

Next, for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$, define

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{a,q}(A_Q)}^{\star\star} := \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_j} 2^{j\alpha q} \sup_{z \in Q} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{\left| A_Q(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(y) \right|^q}{(1 + 2^j |z - y|)^{aq}} \mathbf{1}_Q \right\}^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}. \quad (8.5)$$

By (8.3) and Theorem 7.2, for any $\vec{f} \in (S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$, we have

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})}^{\star} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})} \sim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}. \tag{8.6}$$

Therefore, to prove (8.1), it suffices to show that for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\star} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_{O}\})}^{\star \star} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_{O}\})}^{\star}.$$
(8.7)

We first prove the left-hand side of the above inequality. For any $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, let

$$h_j(x) := 2^{j\alpha} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|W^{1/p}(x)(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(y)|}{(1 + 2^j |x - y|)^a},$$

$$k_j(x) := \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_j} |Q|^{-\alpha/n} \sup_{z \in Q} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|A_Q(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(y)|}{(1 + 2^j |z - y|)^a} \mathbf{1}_Q(x),$$

and

$$\gamma_j(x) := \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_j} \|W^{1/p}(x)A_Q^{-1}\|\mathbf{1}_Q(x).$$

Obviously, for any $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$h_{j}(x) = \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_{j}} 2^{j\alpha} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|W^{1/p}(x)A_{Q}^{-1}A_{Q}(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(y)|}{(1 + 2^{j}|x - y|)^{a}} \mathbf{1}_{Q}(x)$$

$$\leq \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_{j}} 2^{j\alpha} ||W^{1/p}(x)A_{Q}^{-1}|| \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|A_{Q}(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(y)|}{(1 + 2^{j}|x - y|)^{a}} \mathbf{1}_{Q}(x)$$

$$\leq \gamma_{j}(x)k_{j}(x). \tag{8.8}$$

Note that on any given dyadic cube $Q \in \mathcal{D}_i$, k_i is a constant, i.e.,

$$E_j(k_j) = k_j, (8.9)$$

then by (8.8) and (8.9) and Lemma 4.9, for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$, we have

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\star} = \|\{h_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^q)} \leq \|\{\gamma_j E_j(k_j)\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^q)}$$

$$\lesssim \|\{E_j(k_j)\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^q)} \sim \|\{k_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^q)} \sim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})}^{\star\star}.$$
(8.10)

Thus, the first inequality in (8.7) holds. Next, we will prove that the second inequality in (8.7) also holds. For any $x, z \in Q_{jk}$ and $y \in Q_{js}$, there is a geometric relation $1+2^j|x-y| \sim 1+|s-k| \sim 1+2^j|z-y|$. From this, for any $a \in (0, \infty)$, $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, and $x \in Q_{jk}$, we have

$$\sup_{z \in Q_{jk}} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|A_{Q_{jk}}(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(y)|}{(1 + 2^j |z - y|)^a} \sim \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|A_{Q_{jk}}(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(y)|}{(1 + 2^j |x - y|)^a}.$$

Therefore, for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$, we have

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_O\})}^{\star\star} \sim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_O\})}^{\star}.$$
(8.11)

Combining (8.10) and (8.11), we can obtain that (8.7) holds, i.e.,

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\star} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})}^{\star}.$$

Moreover, by (8.6), we have

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})}^{\star} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}.$$

That is, (8.1) is proved. Then for any $\vec{f} \in (S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\star} \sim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}.$$

Therefore, Theorem 8.1 is proved.

Theorem 8.2. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 , <math>0 < q \leq \infty$, $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$. Suppose $\{\varphi_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_+} \in \Phi$. Then $\vec{f} \in \dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$ if and only if $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}_{\infty}'(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$ and $\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{n,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\diamond} < \infty$, where

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}^{\diamond} := \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{j\alpha q} \int_{B(\cdot,2^{-j})} |W^{1/p}(\cdot)(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(y)|^q \mathrm{d}y \right\}^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}.$$

When $q = \infty$, the usual modification is made. Moreover, for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)} \sim \|\vec{f}\|^{\diamond}_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)},$$

where the positive equivalence constants are independent of \vec{f} .

Proof. By Theorem 8.1, to prove

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)} \sim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\diamond},$$

it is equivalent to proving

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\star} \sim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\diamond}.$$

We first prove that for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\diamond} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\star}. \tag{8.12}$$

From the fact that for any $y \in B(0, 2^{-j})$, $1 + 2^j |y| \sim 1$, and the definition of $(\varphi_j^* \vec{f})_a^{(W,p)}$, we infer that for any given $q \in (0, \infty)$, $a \in (0, \infty)$, and any $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\int_{B(x,2^{-j})} |W^{1/p}(x)(\varphi_j*\vec{f})(y)|^q \mathrm{d}y = \int_{B(0,2^{-j})} |W^{1/p}(x)(\varphi_j*\vec{f})(x+y)|^q \mathrm{d}y$$

$$\lesssim \sup_{y \in B(0,2^{-j})} |W^{1/p}(x)(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(x+y)|^q$$

$$\sim \sup_{y \in B(0,2^{-j})} \frac{|W^{1/p}(x)(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(x+y)|^q}{(1+2^j|y|)^{aq}}$$

$$\lesssim \left((\varphi_j^* \vec{f})_a^{(W,p)}(x) \right)^q,$$

which implies that (8.12) holds. Next, we prove that for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\star} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\diamond}.$$
 (8.13)

By (8.7), to prove (8.13), it suffices to show that for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})}^{\star} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\diamond}.$$
 (8.14)

For any given $A \in (0,1]$ satisfying q/A > 1 and p/A > 1, we choose a sufficiently large $a \in (0,\infty)$ such that A(a-r) > n, where $r := \beta/p$, and β is the doubling index of W. Then by (3.21) in [35], for any $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, $x \in Q_{jk}$, we have

$$\sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|A_{Q_{jk}}(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(y)|^{A}}{(1 + 2^{j}|x - y|)^{aA}} \lesssim \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (1 + |k - \ell|)^{-A(a - r)} 2^{jn}$$

$$\times \sum_{\{t \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} : = |t|_{\infty} \leq 1\}} \int_{Q_{j(\ell + t)}} \int_{B(0, 2^{-j})} |A_{Q_{j(\ell + t)}}(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(s + z)|^{A} ds dz. \quad (8.15)$$

We now prove (8.14) by considering two cases for p.

When $p \in (0,1]$. By $\mathbf{1}_{Q_{j(\ell+t)}} = \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_i} (\mathbf{1}_Q \mathbf{1}_{Q_{j(\ell+t)}})$, we have

$$\begin{split} & \int_{Q_{j(\ell+t)}} 2^{j\alpha} \oint_{B(0,2^{-j})} |A_{Q_{j(\ell+t)}}(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(s+z)|^{A} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}z \\ & = \int_{Q_{j(\ell+t)}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_{j}} 2^{j\alpha} \oint_{B(0,2^{-j})} |A_{Q}(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(s+z)|^{A} \mathrm{d}s \mathbf{1}_{Q}(z) \mathrm{d}z \\ & = \int_{Q_{j(\ell+t)}} g_{j}(z) \mathrm{d}z, \end{split} \tag{8.16}$$

where for any $z \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$g_j(z) := \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_j} 2^{j\alpha} \oint_{B(0,2^{-j})} |A_Q(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(s+z)|^A ds \mathbf{1}_Q(z).$$

For any given $x \in Q_{jk}$, let $B_x := B(x_{k,\ell,t}, r_{k,\ell,t})$ be the smallest ball containing x and $Q_{j(\ell+t)}$. Then $r_{k,\ell,t} \sim 2^{-j}(1+|k-\ell-t|)$. Also, since $|t|_{\infty} \le 1$, we have

$$r_{k \ell, t} \sim 2^{-j} (1 + |k - \ell|).$$

From this and (8.16), for any $x \in Q_{jk}$, we obtain

$$\int_{Q_{j(\ell+t)}} 2^{j\alpha} \oint_{B(0,2^{-j})} |A_{Q_{j(\ell+t)}}(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(s+z)|^A ds dz
\leq \int_{B_x} g_j(z) dz \lesssim 2^{-jn} (1 + |k-\ell|)^n \mathcal{M}(g_j)(x).$$
(8.17)

By (8.15) and (8.17), assuming A(a-r) > n, for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$2^{j\alpha} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_{j}} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|A_{Q_{jk}}(\varphi_{j} * f)(y)|^{A}}{(1 + 2^{j}|x - y|)^{aA}} \mathbf{1}_{Q}(x)$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (1 + |k - \ell|)^{-A(a-r)+n} \mathcal{M}(g_{j})(x) \lesssim \mathcal{M}(g_{j})(x). \tag{8.18}$$

From (8.18), for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_{j}} \left\{ 2^{j\alpha} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|A_{Q_{jk}}(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(y)|}{(1 + 2^{j}|x - y|)^{a}} \mathbf{1}_{Q}(x) \right\}^{q} \lesssim 2^{j\alpha q} 2^{-\frac{j\alpha q}{A}} (\mathcal{M}(g_{j}))^{\frac{q}{A}}.$$
(8.19)

By (8.19), the Fefferman-Stein vector-valued maximal inequality in weak Lebesgue spaces with p/A > 1 and q/A > 1, Hölder's inequality, and part (i) of Lemma 3.12, for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\begin{split} &\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}}^{*,q} \\ &\lesssim \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{j\alpha q} 2^{-\frac{j\alpha q}{A}} \left(\mathcal{M}(g_{j}) \right)^{\frac{q}{A}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p/A,\infty}}^{1/A} \\ &\lesssim \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{j\alpha q} 2^{-\frac{j\alpha q}{A}} (g_{j})^{\frac{q}{A}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ &= \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_{j}} 2^{j\alpha q} \left(\int_{B(0,2^{-j})} \left| A_{Q}(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(x+z) \right|^{A} dz \right)^{\frac{q}{A}} \mathbf{1}_{Q} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ &\lesssim \left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_{j}} 2^{j\alpha q} \int_{B(0,2^{-j})} \left| A_{Q}(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(x+z) \right|^{q} dz \mathbf{1}_{Q} \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ &\lesssim \left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_{j}} 2^{j\alpha q} \int_{B(0,2^{-j})} \left| A_{Q}W^{-\frac{1}{p}} \right|^{q} \left| W^{\frac{1}{p}}(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(x+z) \right|^{q} dz \mathbf{1}_{Q} \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ &\lesssim \left\| \vec{f} \right\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}^{\diamond \alpha,q}. \end{split}$$

Thus, when $p \in (0, 1]$, (8.14) holds.

When $p \in (1, \infty)$. For any $x \in Q_{jk}$, by (3.27) in [35], we have

$$\sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|A_{Q_{jk}}(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(y)|^{A}}{(1 + 2^{j}|x - y|)^{aA}} \lesssim \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (1 + |k - \ell|)^{-A(a - r)} 2^{jn(1 - \frac{A}{p'})} \sum_{\{t \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} : = |t|_{\infty} \le 1\}} \left\{ \int_{Q_{j(\ell + t)}} \left(\int_{B(0, 2^{-j})} \left| W^{1/p}(z)(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(s + z) \right|^{A} ds \right)^{\frac{p'}{p' - A}} dz \right\}^{\frac{p' - A}{p'}}. \quad (8.20)$$

Note that for any M > n,

$$\sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^n} (1 + |k - \ell|)^{-M} = \sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \sum_{k - \ell \in \mathbb{Z}^n} (1 + |k - \ell|)^{-M}$$
$$= \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^n} (1 + |\ell|)^{-M} \lesssim 1.$$
(8.21)

For any given $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, let $B_x := B(x_{k,\ell,t}, r_{k,\ell,t})$ be the smallest ball containing x and $Q_{j(\ell+t)}$, with the same assumptions as in the case $p \in (0,1]$. Then $r_{k,\ell,t} \sim 2^{-j}(1+|k-\ell|)$. By (3.28) in [35], we have

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|A_{Q_{jk}}(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(y)|^{q}}{(1 + 2^{j}|x - y|)^{aq}} \mathbf{1}_{Q_{jk}}(x)$$

$$\lesssim \left\{ \mathcal{M} \left(\left(\int_{B(0, 2^{-j})} \left| W^{1/p}(\cdot)(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(\cdot + z) \right|^{A} dz \right)^{\frac{p'}{p' - A}} \right) (x) \right\}^{\frac{(p' - A)q}{Ap'}} . \quad (8.22)$$

Note that p(p'-A)/(Ap')=(A+(1-A)p)/A>1, choosing a sufficiently small $A\in(0,1)$, then we have (p'-A)q/(Ap')>1, q/A>1. For brevity, hereafter we set $T_{j,z}:=W^{1/p}(x)(\varphi_j*\vec{f})(x+z)$, so that, by (8.22); the Fefferman-Stein vector-valued maximal inequality in weak Lebesgue spaces and Hölder's inequality, for any $\vec{f}\in(\mathcal{S}_\infty'(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$, we deduce that

$$\begin{split} & \| \vec{f} \|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})}^{\star} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{j\alpha q} \left(\mathcal{M} \left(\left(\int_{B(0,2^{-j})} \left| T_{j,z} \right|^A \mathrm{d}z \right)^{\frac{p'}{p'-A}} \right) \right)^{\frac{(p'-A)q}{Ap'}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ & \sim \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\mathcal{M} \left(\left(\int_{B(0,2^{-j})} \left| 2^{j\alpha} T_{j,z} \right|^A \mathrm{d}z \right)^{\frac{p'}{p'-A}} \right) \right)^{\frac{(p'-A)q}{Ap'}} \right\}^{\frac{Ap'}{(p'-A)q}} \right\|_{L^{\frac{p(p'-A)}{p'A},\infty}}^{\frac{p'-A}{p'}} \end{split}$$

$$\lesssim \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{j\alpha q} \left(\left. \oint_{B(0, 2^{-j})} \left| T_{j, z} \right|^{A} dz \right)^{q/A} \right\}^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p, \infty}}$$

$$\lesssim \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{j\alpha q} \left(\left. \oint_{B(0, 2^{-j})} \left| T_{j, z} \right|^{q} dz \right) \right\}^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p, \infty}}$$

$$\sim \left\| \overrightarrow{f} \right\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha, q}_{n, \infty}(W)}^{\diamond}.$$

Thus, (8.14) holds for $p \in (0, \infty)$.

Therefore, (8.13) holds. Combining with (8.12) and Theorem 8.1. Theorem 8.2 is proved. $\hfill\Box$

Theorem 8.3. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 , <math>0 < q \leq \infty$, $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$, and $\lambda \in (1/\min\{1, p, q\} + \beta/(np), \infty)$, where β is the doubling exponent of W. Suppose $\{\varphi_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_+} \in \Phi$. Then $\vec{f} \in \dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$ if and only if $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$ and $\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{n,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\circ} < \infty$, where

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\circ} := \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{j\alpha q} 2^{jn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|W^{1/p}(\cdot)(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(y)|^{q}}{(1 + 2^{j}|\cdot - y|)^{\lambda nq}} \mathrm{d}y \right\}^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}}.$$

When $q = \infty$ the usual modification is made. Moreover, for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)} \sim \|\vec{f}\|^{\circ}_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)},$$

where the positive equivalence constants are independent of \vec{f} .

Proof. We first prove that for any $\vec{f} \in (S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\circ}.$$
 (8.23)

In fact, for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $y \in B(x, 2^{-j})$, by geometric observation, we have $1 + 2^j | x - y | \sim 1$, this implies that for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, and $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\int_{B(x,2^{-j})} |W^{1/p}(x)(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(y)|^q dy \sim 2^{jn} \int_{B(x,2^{-j})} \frac{|W^{1/p}(x)(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(y)|^q}{(1+2^j|x-y|)^{\lambda nq}} dy
\lesssim 2^{jn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|W^{1/p}(x)(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(y)|^q}{(1+2^j|x-y|)^{\lambda nq}} dy,$$

which means $\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}^{\diamond} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}^{\circ}$. By Theorem 8.2, we have $\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}^{\diamond}$ $\sim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}^{\diamond}$. Therefore, (8.23) holds. Thus, to prove Theorem 8.3, it remains

to prove that for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\circ} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}.$$
 (8.24)

Let $\{A_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$ be the p-th order reducing operators for W. For any $\vec{f}\in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$, define

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_{Q}\})}^{\circ} := \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_{j}} 2^{j\alpha q} 2^{jn} \sup_{z \in Q} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|A_{Q}(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(y)|^{q}}{(1 + 2^{j}|z - y|)^{\lambda nq}} \mathrm{d}y \mathbf{1}_{Q} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right\|_{L_{\mathbf{R}}^{\infty}}. \quad (8.25)$$

To prove (8.24), we first prove that for any $\vec{f} \in (S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\circ} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_{O}\})}^{\circ}.$$
 (8.26)

For any given $p \in (0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$, and any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, let

$$\gamma_j(x) := \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_j} \|W^{1/p}(x)A_Q^{-1}\|\mathbf{1}_Q(x),$$

$$h_j(x) := 2^{j\alpha} 2^{jn/q} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|W^{1/p}(x)(\varphi_j * \vec{f})(y)|^q}{(1 + 2^j |x - y|)^{\lambda nq}} dy \right]^{1/q},$$

$$f_{j}(x) := \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_{j}} |Q|^{-\alpha/n} 2^{jn/q} \left[\sup_{z \in Q} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|A_{Q}(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(y)|^{q}}{(1 + 2^{j}|z - y|)^{\lambda nq}} dy \right]^{1/q} \mathbf{1}_{Q}(x).$$

Then, by (3.37) in [35], for any $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$h_j(x) \le \gamma_j(x) f_j(x). \tag{8.27}$$

Note that f_j is a constant on any given $Q \in \mathcal{D}_j$, i.e., $E_j(f_j) = f_j$. According to this, the definitions of $\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}^{\circ}$ and $h_j(x)$, (8.27), Lemma 4.9, and (8.25), for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}^{\circ} = \|\{h_{j}\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^{q})} \leq \|\{\gamma_{j}E_{j}(f_{j})\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^{q})}$$

$$\lesssim \|\{E_{j}(f_{j})\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^{q})} \sim \|\{f_{j}\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{L^{p,\infty}(\ell^{q})} \sim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_{Q}\})}^{\circ}.$$

Therefore, for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$, (8.26) holds. Next, we prove that for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})}^{\circ} \lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}.$$
 (8.28)

By the proof of Theorem 3.14 in [35], for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_{j}} 2^{j\alpha q} 2^{jn} \sup_{z \in Q} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|A_{Q}(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})(y)|^{q}}{(1 + 2^{j}|z - y|)^{\lambda nq}} \mathrm{d}y \mathbf{1}_{Q}(x)$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\mathcal{M}\left(\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_{j}} \left(|2^{j\alpha} A_{Q}(\varphi_{j} * \vec{f})| \mathbf{1}_{Q}\right)^{A}\right)(x) \right)^{q/A}.$$

Thus, for $A \in (0, \min\{p, q\})$, using the Fefferman-Stein vector-valued maximal inequality in weak Lebesgue spaces and Theorem 7.2, for any $\vec{f} \in (S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\begin{split} \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})}^{\circ} &\lesssim \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\mathcal{M} \left(\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_j} \left(|2^{j\alpha} A_Q \varphi_j * \vec{f} | \mathbf{1}_Q \right)^A \right) \right)^{q/A} \right\}^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p,\infty}} \\ &\sim \left\| \left\{ \mathcal{M} \left(\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_j} \left(|2^{j\alpha} A_Q \varphi_j * \vec{f} | \mathbf{1}_Q \right)^A \right) \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{L^{p/A,\infty}(\ell^{q/A})}^{1/A} \\ &\lesssim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})} \sim \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)}, \end{split}$$

which further shows that (8.28) holds. By (8.26) and (8.28), we obtain (8.24). Combining (8.24) and (8.23), for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$, we have $||\vec{f}||_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)} \sim ||\vec{f}||_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)}$, thus completing the proof of Theorem 8.3.

9. Calderón-Zygmund operators

In this section, we prove that classical convolution Calderón-Zygmund operators (CZOs) are bounded on $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$. We need to recall the definition of smooth atoms (see Definition 6.1) and the definition of classical convolution Calderón-Zygmund operators (see Definition 9.5). Then we use the general criterion for the boundedness of operators: if an operator T maps smooth atoms into smooth molecules, then T is bounded on $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$.

Before starting, we first need to discuss the extension problem of a given operator $T: \mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $\widetilde{T}: \dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W) \to \dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)$. Let the matrix $B:=\{b_{QP}\}_{Q,P\in\mathcal{D}}$. For any sequence $s:=\{s_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$, define $Bs:=\{(Bs)_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$, where $(Bs)_Q:=\sum_{P\in\mathcal{D}}b_{QP}s_P$.

For Proposition 3.18 in Reference [3], taking $\tau=0$, and combining with the fact that the classical matrix-weighted Triebel-Lizorkin space $\dot{F}_p^{\alpha,q}(W) \subset \dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$, the following corollary is easily obtained.

Corollary 9.1. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$, and $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$. Then $(\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m \subset \dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$. Moreover, there exist an $M \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and a positive constant

C such that for any $\vec{f} \in (\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)} \le C\|\vec{f}\|_{\vec{S}_{M}} := C \sup_{\gamma \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}^{n}, |\gamma| \le M} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| \left(\partial^{\gamma} \vec{f} \right) (x) \right| (1 + |x|)^{n+M+|\gamma|}.$$

Lemma 9.2. Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}$, and $T \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n), \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))$, and define a finite matrix $\widehat{T} := \{\langle T\psi_P, \varphi_Q \rangle\}_{Q,P \in \mathcal{D}}$. Then \widehat{T} maps $S_{\varphi,\infty} := \{\{f, \varphi_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} : f \in \mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)\}$ to $S_{\varphi,\infty'} := \{\{f, \varphi_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} : f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)\}$, and satisfies $\widehat{T} \circ S_{\varphi} = S_{\varphi} \circ T$ on $\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof. Let $f \in \mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. For $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}$, let $\hat{\psi} = \hat{\varphi}/(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\varphi_j}|^2)$, then $\psi \in \mathcal{A}$. By Lemma 6.3, we have $f = \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}} \langle f, \varphi_P \rangle \psi_P$ converges in $\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Since $T \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n), \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))$, it follows that $Tf = \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}} \langle f, \varphi_P \rangle T \psi_P$ converges in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Through $\varphi_Q \in \mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we further obtain the conclusion that the convergence in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ implies

$$\langle Tf, \varphi_Q \rangle = \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}} \langle T\psi_P, \varphi_Q \rangle \langle f, \varphi_P \rangle.$$

Since $\{\langle f, \varphi_P \rangle\}_{P \in \mathcal{D}}$ is an arbitrary element in $S_{\varphi,\infty}$, it is evident that

$$\widehat{T}: S_{\varphi,\infty} \to \mathbb{C}^{\mathcal{D}},$$

where

$$\mathbb{C}^{\mathcal{D}} := \{ s : s = \{s_O\}_{O \in \mathcal{D}} \subset \mathbb{C} \},\$$

is well-defined. The fact that $Tf \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ also indicates that $\widehat{T}: S_{\varphi,\infty} \to S_{\varphi,\infty'}$ and $\widehat{T} \circ S_{\varphi} = S_{\varphi} \circ T$.

The φ -transform is defined as the mapping of each $\vec{f} \in (S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$ to the sequence $S_{\varphi}\vec{f} := \{(S_{\varphi}\vec{f})_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$, where $(S_{\varphi}\vec{f})_Q := \langle f, \varphi_Q \rangle$. The inverse φ -transform is defined as the mapping of the sequence $\vec{s} := \{\vec{s}_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \subset \mathbb{C}^m$ to $T_{\psi}\vec{s} := \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \vec{s}_Q \psi_Q$ in $(S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$.

Lemma 9.3. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 , <math>0 < q \le \infty$, $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$, $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}$, and $\hat{\psi} = \hat{\varphi}/(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\hat{\varphi_j}|^2) \in \mathcal{A}$. Assume $T \in \mathcal{L}(S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n), S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))$, and suppose $\hat{T} := \{\langle T\psi_P, \varphi_Q \rangle\}_{Q,P \in \mathcal{D}}$ has an extension $\tilde{T} \in \mathcal{L}(\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\}))$. Then $\tilde{T} := T_{\psi} \circ \tilde{T} \circ S_{\varphi}$ is an extension of T and $\tilde{T} \in \mathcal{L}(\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W))$.

Proof. For the operator S_{φ} , by replacing φ and $\widetilde{\varphi}$ in (7.1), we have

$$||S_{\varphi}\vec{f}||_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_{Q}\})} \leq C||\vec{f}||_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W,\widetilde{\varphi})},$$

which means that $S_{\varphi}: \dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W,\widetilde{\varphi}) \to \dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})$ is bounded. For the operator T_{ψ} , by the conclusion (**b**) of Theorem 6.4 and Theorem 7.2, we have

$$\|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)} \le C \|\{\langle \vec{f}, \varphi_Q \rangle\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(\{A_Q\})},$$

moreover, for $\vec{s} = \{\vec{s}_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$, where $\vec{s}_Q := \langle \vec{f}, \varphi_Q \rangle$, and for $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}$, let $\hat{\psi} = \hat{\varphi}/(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\hat{\varphi_j}|^2)$ by Lemma 6.3 we have $\vec{f} = \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \langle \vec{f}, \varphi_Q \rangle \psi_Q$, thus

$$||T_{\psi}\vec{s}||_{\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)} \le C||\vec{s}||_{\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\})},$$

which means that $T_{\psi}: \dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\}) \to \dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$ is bounded. Therefore, combining $\widetilde{T} \in \mathcal{L}(\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\}))$, it further shows that $\widetilde{T} \in \mathcal{L}(\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W))$. Since \widetilde{T} is an extension of \widehat{T} , by Lemma 9.2, we infer that, for any $f \in (\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))^m$,

$$\widetilde{T}\vec{f} = T_{\psi} \circ \widetilde{\widehat{T}} \circ S_{\varphi}\vec{f} = T_{\psi} \circ S_{\varphi} \circ T\vec{f} = T\vec{f}.$$

From this and the Corollary 9.1, \tilde{T} is an extension of T.

Corollary 9.4. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 , <math>0 < q \leq \infty$, $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$, $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}$, $\hat{\psi} = \hat{\varphi}/\left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\hat{\varphi_j}|^2\right) \in \mathcal{A}$, and $T \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n), \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))$. If the matrix $\hat{T} := \{\langle T\psi_P, \varphi_Q \rangle\}_{Q,P \in \mathcal{D}}$ is almost diagonal, then T admits an extension $\tilde{T} \in \mathcal{L}(\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W))$.

Proof. If the matrix $\widehat{T}:=\{\langle T\psi_P,\varphi_Q\rangle\}_{Q,P\in\mathcal{D}}$ is almost diagonal, then by Theorem 5.5, \widehat{T} admits an extension $\widetilde{T}\in\mathcal{L}(\dot{f}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(\{A_Q\}))$. Therefore, by Lemma 9.3, it follows that T admits an extension $\widetilde{T}\in\mathcal{L}(\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W))$.

Next, we review the definition of the classical Calderón-Zygmund operators.

Definition 9.5. Let $L \in \mathbb{N}$. We call T an L-smooth classical Calderón-Zygmund operator on \mathbb{R}^n . If $Tf(x) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B(0,\epsilon)} K(y) f(x-y) dy$, where the kernel K satisfies:

- $(M1) |K(x)| \le \frac{c}{|x|^n}, x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\},\$
- (M2) $|D^{\gamma}K(x)| \leq \frac{c}{|x|^{n+|\gamma|}}, x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\} \text{ and } |\gamma| \leq L,$
- (M3) $\int_{R_1 < |x| < R_2} K(x) dx = 0, 0 < R_1 < R_2 < \infty.$

Proposition 9.6. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$, $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$, $T \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n), \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n))$, $0 < \delta \leq 1$, $N > -\alpha + (\beta - n)/p + n/\min(1, p, q) - n - 1$, $K + \delta > \alpha + n/p$, $M > n/\min(1, p, q) + \beta/p$. Suppose there exists $N_0 \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ such that for every smooth N_0 -atom a_Q associated with Q, the function $m_Q = Ta_Q$ satisfies conditions (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) in Definition 6.2, forming a family of smooth (N, K, M, δ) -molecules, where each constant C is independent of Q. Then the operator T is bounded on $\dot{F}_{D,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$.

Proof. By Lemma 5.3 in reference [15], we have $|\langle T\psi_P, \varphi_Q \rangle| \leq c\omega_{QP}$, which implies that the matrix $\widehat{T} := \{\langle T\psi_P, \varphi_Q \rangle\}_{Q,P \in \mathcal{D}}$ is almost diagonal, i.e., $\widehat{T} \in \mathbf{ad}^{\alpha,\mathbf{q}}_{\mathbf{p}}(\beta)$. According to Corollary 9.4, the operator T is bounded on $\dot{F}^{\alpha,q}_{p,\infty}(W)$.

By the above lemmas, suppose that a_Q is a smooth N_0 -atom with $N_0 \in \mathbb{Z}_+$. For the classical Calderón-Zygmund operator T, let $Ta_Q = m_Q$. To prove that the Calderón-Zygmund operator T is bounded on $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$, it suffices to show that m_Q forms a family of smooth molecules. For this purpose, the following lemma is further introduced to assist the proof, see Lemma 5.7 in Reference [15].

Lemma 9.7. Let $N_0 \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, $L \in \mathbb{N}$, and a_Q be a smooth N_0 -atom associated with Q. Let T be an L-smooth classical Calderón-Zygmund operator on \mathbb{R}^n , and set $Ta_Q = m_Q$. Then m_Q satisfies

$$\int x^{\gamma} m_Q(x) dx = 0, \ |\gamma| \le N_0, \tag{9.1}$$

and

$$|D^{\gamma} m_{Q}(x)| \le c|Q|^{-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{|\gamma|}{n}} \left(1 + \frac{|x - x_{Q}|}{\ell(Q)} \right)^{-n - L}, |\gamma| \le L.$$
 (9.2)

Theorem 9.8. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$, $W \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^m)$ with doubling exponent β . Let $L \in \mathbb{N}$ satisfy: (I) : $L > \alpha + n/p$, (II) : $L > -\alpha + (\beta - n)/p + n/\min(1, p, q) - n$, (III) : $L > n/\min(1, p, q) - n + \beta/p$. If T is an L-smooth classical Calderón-Zygmund operator on \mathbb{R}^n , then the operator T is bounded on $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$.

Proof. Let N, K, and M satisfy the conditions required by Proposition 9.6, and take $\delta=1$, K=L-1. Let a_Q be a smooth N_0 -atom for Q, and choose $N_0>-\alpha+(\beta-n)/p+n/\min(1,p,q)-n-1$. Set $Ta_Q=m_Q$. To prove that the Calderón-Zygmund operator T is bounded on $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$, by Proposition 9.6, it suffices to show that m_Q satisfies conditions (i), (ii), (iii), and (iv) of Definition 6.2.

By Lemma 9.7, m_Q satisfies (9.1), and thus for $N=N_0$, m_Q satisfies condition (i) of Definition 6.2. Also, by (III) and (9.2), m_Q satisfies condition (iii) of Definition 6.2, where $M=L+n>n/\min(1,p,q)+\beta/p$ and $|\gamma|\leq L$. For $\delta=1, K=L-1$, and $|\gamma|=L$, noting that by (I) we have $K+1=L>\alpha+n/p$, by the mean value theorem, m_Q satisfies condition (iv) of Definition 6.2. The decay of order -M in condition (ii) of Definition 6.2 is obtained from (9.2) with $|\gamma|=0$. According to this, along with (II) and (9.2), m_Q satisfies condition (ii) of Definition 6.2, where $N>-\alpha+(\beta-n)/p+n/\min(1,p,q)$.

In summary, m_Q satisfies conditions (i), (ii), (iii), and (iv) of Definition 6.2, and thus is a family of smooth (N, K, M, δ) -molecules.

Remark 9.9. In particular, the Hilbert transform \mathbb{H} (for n=1) and Riesz transforms \mathcal{R}_j with $j=1,\ldots,n$ (for $n\geq 2$) are classical Calderón-Zygmund operators that are L-smooth for each value of L. Therefore, for all $\alpha\in\mathbb{R}$ and $0< p<\infty$, $0< q\leq \infty$, they can be extended to be bounded on $\dot{F}_{p,\infty}^{\alpha,q}(W)$.

References

- [1] Bu, Fan; Hytönen, Tuomas; Yang, Dachun; Yuan, Wen. Matrix-weighted Besovtype and Triebel–Lizorkin-type spaces I: A_p -dimensions of matrix weights and φ -transform characterizations. *Math. Ann.* **391** (2025) 6105–6185. MR4884569, Zbl 08022215, arXiv:2304.00292, doi: 10.1007/s00208-024-03059-5. 1197
- [2] Bu, Fan; Hytönen, Tuomas; Yang, Dachun; Yuan, Wen. Matrix-weighted Besov-type and Triebel–Lizorkin-type spaces II: Sharp boundedness of almost diagonal operators. *J. Lond. Math. Soc.* (2) **111** (2025), no. 3, Paper No. e70094, 59 pp. MR4877594, Zbl 08052128. arXiv:2312.13548, doi: 10.1112/jlms.70094. 1197
- [3] BU, FAN; HYTÖNEN, TUOMAS; YANG, DACHUN; YUAN, WEN. Matrix-weighted Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces III: Characterizations of molecules and wavelets, trace theorems, and boundedness of pseudo-differential operators and Calderón-Zygmund operators. *Math. Z.* 308 (2024) 1–67. MR4797823, Zbl 1558.46029, arXiv:2312.13549, doi: 10.1007/s00209-024-03584-8. 1197, 1200, 1230
- [4] Bu, Fan; Hytönen, Tuomas; Yang, Dachun; Yuan, Wen. Besov–Triebel–Lizorkin-type spaces with matrix A_{∞} weights. Sci. China Math. (2025). arXiv:2501.03050. doi: 10.1007/s11425-024-2385-x. 1197
- [5] BU, FAN; YANG, DACHUN; YUAN, WEN; ZHANG, MINGDONG. Matrix-weighted-Besov-Triebel-Lizorkin spaces of optimal scale: real-variable characterizations, invariance on integrable index, and Sobolev-type embedding. Preprint, 2025. arXiv:2505.02136. 1197
- [6] CARDENAS, ROY; ISRALOWITZ, JOSHUA. Two matrix weighted inequalities for commutators with fractional integral operators. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 515 (2022), no. 2, Paper No. 126280, 16 pp. MR4445676, Zbl 1493.42015, arXiv:2101.12082, doi:10.1016/j.jmaa.2022.126280.1197
- [7] CRUZ–URIBE, DAVID; MOEN, KABE; RODNEY, SCOTT. Matrix A_p weights, degenerate Sobolev spaces, and mappings of finite distortion. *J. Geom. Anal.* **26** (2016) 2797–2830. MR3544941, Zbl 1357.30015, arXiv:1505.00699, doi: 10.1007/s12220-015-9649-8. 1196
- [8] CRUZ-URIBE, DAVID; ISRALOWITZ, JOSHUA; MOEN, KABE. Two weight bump conditions for matrix weights. *Integral Equations Operator Theory* 90 (2018), no. 3, Paper No. 36, 31 pp. MR3803292, Zbl 1395.42029, arXiv:1710.03397, doi: 10.1007/s00020-018-2455-5. 1197
- [9] CRUZ-URIBE, DAVID; ISRALOWITZ, JOSHUA; MOEN, KABE; POTT, SANDRA; RIVERA-RÍOS, ISRAEL P. Weak endpoint bounds for matrix weights. Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 37 (2021), no. 4, 1513–1538. MR4269407, Zbl 1467.42021, arXiv:1905.06436, doi: 10.4171/RMI/1237. 1197
- [10] DUONG, XUAN T.; LI, JI; YANG, DONGYONG. Variation of Calderón–Zygmund operators with matrix weight. *Commun. Contemp. Math.* 23 (2021), no. 7, Paper No. 2050062, 30 pp. MR4329309, Zbl 1479.42037, arXiv:1811.11324, doi: 10.1142/S0219199720500625. 1197
- [11] FRAZIER, MICHAEL; JAWERTH, BJÖRN. Decomposition of Besov spaces. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 34 (1985), no. 4, 777–799. MR0808825, Zbl 0551.46018, doi: 10.1512/iumj.1985.34.34041.1196
- [12] FRAZIER, MICHAEL; JAWERTH, BJÖRN. A discrete transform and decompositions of distribution spaces. J. Funct. Anal. 93 (1990), no. 1, 34–170. MR1070037, Zbl 0716.46031, doi:10.1016/0022-1236(90)90137-A. 1209, 1210, 1211
- [13] FRAZIER, MICHAEL; JAWERTH, BJÖRN; WEISS, GUIDO. Littlewood–Paley theory and the study of function spaces. CBMS Regional Conference Series in Mathematics, 79. *Published for the Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences, Washington, DC; by the American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI*, 1991. viii+132 pp. ISBN: 0-8218-0731-5. MR1107300, Zbl 0757.42006, doi: 10.1090/cbms/079 . 1196
- [14] FRAZIER, MICHAEL; ROUDENKO, SVETLANA. Matrix-weighted Besov spaces and conditions of A_p type for 0 . Indiana Univ. Math. J.**53**(2004), no. 5, 1225–1254. MR2104276, Zbl 1081.42023, doi: 10.1512/iumj.2004.53.2483. 1201
- [15] FRAZIER, MICHAEL; ROUDENKO, SVETLANA. Littlewood-Paley theory for matrix-weighted function spaces. Math. Ann. 380 (2021), no. 1-2, 487-537. MR4263690, Zbl 1468.42025,

- arXiv:1906.00149, doi:10.1007/s00208-020-02066-2. 1197, 1202, 1204, 1214, 1218, 1219, 1232, 1233
- [16] Grafakos, Loukas; He, Danqing. Weak Hardy spaces. Some topics in harmonic analysis and applications, 177–202. Adv. Lect. Math. (ALM), 34, International Press, Somerville, MA, 2016. ISBN:978-1-57146-315-9. MR3525560, Zbl 1345.42026. 1196
- [17] HE, DANQING. Square function characterization of weak Hardy spaces. J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 20 (2014), no. 5, 1083–1110. MR3254613, Zbl 1309.42027, arXiv:1304.7398, doi:10.1007/s00041-014-9346-1.1196, 1207
- [18] HIGHAM, NICHOLAS J. Functions of matrices: theory and computation. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA, 2008. xx+425 pp. ISBN:978-0-89871-646-7. MR2396439, Zbl 1167.15001, doi:10.1137/1.9780898717778. 1201
- [19] HUNT, RICHARD; MUCKENHOUPT, BENJAMIN; WHEEDEN, RICHARD. Weighted norm inequalities for the conjugate function and Hilbert transform. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 176 (1973), 227–251. MR0312139, Zbl 0262.44004, doi: 10.2307/1996205. 1196
- [20] LI, WENCHANG; XU, JINGSHI. Equivalent quasi-norms and atomic decomposition of weak Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. *Czechoslovak Math. J.* 67(142) (2017), no. 2, 497–513. MR3661055, Zbl 1459.46042, doi: 10.21136/CMJ.2017.0037-16. 1196
- [21] LI, WENCHANG; XU, JINGSHI. Weak Triebel-Lizorkin spaces with variable integrability, summability and smoothness. *Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci.* 55 (2019), no. 2, 259–282. MR3941484, Zbl 1420.46029, doi:10.4171/PRIMS/55-2-2.1196
- [22] LIZORKIN, P. I. Operators connected with fractional differentiation, and classes of differentiable functions. Orthogonal series and approximations of functions. *Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov* 117 (1972) 212–243, 345. MR0370166, Zbl 0282.46029. 1196
- [23] LIZORKIN, P. I. Properties of functions in the spaces $\Lambda_{p,\theta}^r$. Orthogonal series and approximations of functions. *Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov* **131** (1974) 158–181, 247. MR0361756, Zbl 0317.46029. 1196
- [24] MUCKENHOUPT, BENJAMIN. Weighted norm inequalities for the Hardy maximal function. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* **165** (1972) 207–226. MR0293384, Zbl 0236.26016, doi: 10.1090/S0002-9947-1972-0293384-6. 1196
- [25] NAZAROV, FEDOR L.; TREĬL', SERGEI R. The hunt for a Bellman function: applications to estimates for singular integral operators and to other classical problems of harmonic analysis. St. Petersburg Math. J. 8 (1997) 32–162. MR1428988, Zbl 0873.42011, arXiv:math/9711209, doi: 10.1090/S0894-0347-99-00310-0. 1196
- [26] PEETRE, JAAK. On spaces of Triebel-Lizorkin type. Ark. Mat. 13 (1975) 123-130. MR0380394, Zbl 0302.46021, doi: 10.1007/BF02386201. 1220
- [27] ROUDENKO, SVETLANA. The theory of function spaces with matrix weights. Ph.D. thesis, Michigan State University. *ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI*, 2002. 136 pp. ISBN:978-0493-83254-8. MR2703819 https://d.lib.msu.edu/etd/31407. 1201
- [28] ROUDENKO, SVETLANA. Matrix-weighted Besov spaces. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 355 (2003), no. 1, 273–314. MR1928089, Zbl 1010.42011, doi: 10.1090/S0002-9947-02-03066-0. 1209
- [29] STEIN, ELIAS M. Harmonic analysis: real-variable methods, orthogonality, and oscillatory integrals. Princeton Mathematical Series, 43 Monographs in Harmonic Analysis, III. Princeton University Press, Princeton NJ, 1993. xiv+695 pp. MR1232192, Zbl 0821.42001, doi: 10.1515/9781400883929. 1201
- [30] Treil, Sergei; Volberg, Alexander L. Wavelets and the angle between past and future. *J. Funct. Anal.* **143** (1997), no. 2, 269–308. MR1428818, Zbl 0876.42027, doi:10.1006/jfan.1996.2986.1196
- [31] TREIL, SERGEI; VOLBERG, ALEXANDER L. Completely regular multivariate stationary processes and the Muckenhoupt condition. *Pacific J. Math.* **190** (1999), no. 2, 361–382. MR1722900, Zbl 1006.60027, arXiv:math/9712279, doi:10.2140/pjm.1999.190.361.1196

- [32] TRIEBEL, HANS. Spaces of distributions of Besov type on Euclidean n-space. Duality, interpolation. Ark. Mat. 11 (1973) 13–64. MR0348483, Zbl 0255.46026, doi: 10.1007/BF02388506.
- [33] TRIEBEL, HANS. Theory of function spaces. Monographs in Mathematics, 78. *Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel*, 1983. 284 pp. ISBN:3-7643-1381-1. MR0781540, Zbl 0546.46028. 1196
- [34] VOLBERG, ALEXANDER L. Matrix A_p weights via S-functions. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 10 (1997), no. 2, 445–466. MR1423034, Zbl 0877.42003, doi:10.1090/S0894-0347-97-00233-6. 1196, 1201
- [35] WANG, QI; YANG, DACHUN; ZHANG, YANGYANG. Real-variable characterizations and their applications of matrix-weighted Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 529 (2024), no. 1, Paper No. 127629, 37 pp. MR4623444, Zbl 1522.42023, arXiv:2207.08474, doi:10.1016/j.jmaa.2023.127629. 1197, 1201, 1220, 1221, 1225, 1227, 1229, 1230
- [36] YAN, XIANJIE; YANG, DACHUN; YUAN, WEN; ZHUO, CIQIANG. Variable weak Hardy spaces and their applications. *J. Funct. Anal.* **271** (2016), no. 10, 2822–2887. MR3548281, Zbl 1440.42100, arXiv:1603.01781, doi: 10.1016/j.jfa.2016.07.006. 1196
- [37] YANG, DACHUN; YUAN, WEN. A new class of function spaces connecting Triebel–Lizorkin spaces and *Q* spaces. *J. Funct. Anal.* **255** (2008), no. 10, 2760–2809. MR2464191, Zbl 1169.46016, doi:10.1016/j.jfa.2008.09.005.1197
- [38] YANG, DACHUN; YUAN, WEN. New Besov-type spaces and Triebel–Lizorkin-type spaces including *Q* spaces. *Math. Z.* **265** (2010), no. 2, 451–480. MR2609320, Zbl 1191.42011, doi: 10.1007/s00209-009-0524-9.1197, 1214
- [39] YANG, DACHUN; YUAN, WEN; ZHANG, MINGDONG. Matrix-weighted Besov-Triebel-Lizorkin spaces of optimal scale: boundedness of pseudo-differential, trace, and Calderón-Zygmund operators. Preprint, 2025. arXiv:2504.19060. 1197

(Yanli Mo) SCHOOL OF MATHEMATICS AND COMPUTING SCIENCE, GUILIN UNIVERSITY OF ELECTRONIC TECHNOLOGY, GUILIN, GUANGXI 541004, CHINA 2077645287@qq.com

(Jingshi Xu) School of Mathematics and Computing Science, Guilin University of Electronic Technology, Guilin, Guangxi 541004, China; Center for Applied Mathematics of Guangxi (GUET), Guilin, Guangxi 541004, China; Guangxi Colleges and Universities Key Laboratory of Data Analysis and Computation, Guilin, Guangxi 541004, China

jingshixu@126.com

This paper is available via http://nyjm.albany.edu/j/2025/31-44.html.